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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 as well as the prospect of our diverse portfolio
featuring with coal mining and operation business, Cambodia business
and IT related business.

The Group has been focusing on coal mining business with
the development of Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine for full
commencement of construction work during the year and is optimistic
launching the remaining mines in full operation. It is expected that
steady cash inflow will be generated once all mines are in full operation
to improve the overall financial position of the Group.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is undergoing an
environmental paradigm shift, transitioning to be a global leader in
the fight against climate change over the years. The coal regulatory
authorities in Shanxi Province (“Shanxi”) has adopted stringent policies
and regulation on safety, environmental protection and production
control to implement the national safety protocol for coal mines as the
PRC government pursues its goal of promoting ecological civilisation.
The Group will closely speculate the existing mines such that major
technical renovations are carried out and the environmental and
safety procedures measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

In 2022, the restriction of mining products importing to PRC leading
a sharp rise in coking coal prices. Coupled with the benefits of certain
policies restricting imported coal to China and the strong coal demand
in the domestic coal market in the first half of 2022, domestic coking
coal supply and demand remained tight, and prices remained high.
In the second half of 2022, the selling prices of mining products had
maintained stably under the stabilisation policy of energy supply
implemented by the PRC government. After December 2022, the
Covid-zero policy has ended and the PRC government has put
economic development back in the most important position. In 2023,
the Board will develop the competitive edges of the Group to enhance
the performance of coal mining and coal operation businesses at a
steady pace. It will actively seize investment opportunities prudently
and thoroughly in order to generate favorable returns for our
shareholders.
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Concerning Cambodia business, the Group is seeking business
opportunities related to agro-related business.

As for IT related business, the competitions in the industry remain
challenging. However, the considerable impact of the market pressure
on the Group’s overall financial position is minimal. After careful
consideration, the Company’s management has come to the view that
we will streamline the existing IT related business and divert our effort
towards other potential investments.

The Group is ready to build on its accomplishments in 2022 and to
attain a better development for the diverse portfolio of the Company.
On behalf of the Board and management, | wish to express my
sincere gratitude to our clients, business partners, the shareholders
(the “Shareholder(s)”) and other stakeholders of the Company for their
unwavering support and belief in the Group, and to our employees for
their tireless dedication and professional competence that are the fuel
to drive the Group’s ongoing development.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 57, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 June 2013. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from |LI 78 B 48 KX £
(Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Accounting and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from &/I# 2Bt (Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business®). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management in mining, investment, finance and other industries.

He was appointed as an executive director of PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (“PINE”) (Stock Code: 1079), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), on 8 June 2017. He was also designated as the chairman
of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, the chairman of
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of
PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”), aged 65, was re-appointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2016, and now being the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer and the chairman of each
of the nomination committee and the risk management committee
of the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He was an executive Director from 12 February 2007 to
30 November 2015. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Biological Science from the University of California, Berkeley and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of San
Francisco.

Mr. Tse has over 30 years of experience in corporate management
in the agriculture, manufacturing, mining and merge and acquisitions
sectors. Mr. Tse was a registered consultant to Asian Development
Bank and held key positions in several companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (“Mr. Ho”), aged 55, was appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 5 August 2020 and
now being the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and
the member of each of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration (Hons.), major in
Accounting, from Hong Kong Baptist University. He has over 29 years
of experience in finance and accounting, company secretary, initial
public offering, takeover, deposition and debt restructuring. He is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

He was also respectively appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Yadong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1795) since
21 October 2020, an independent non-executive director of JW
(Cayman) Therapeutics Co. Ltd (Stock Code: 2126) since 22 October
2020, and an independent non-executive director of MicroTech
Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2235.HK) since 19 October
2021. The securities of the above companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
CECEP COSTIN New Materials Group Limited (Stock Code: 2228),
a company has been delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 14 February 2022, on 6 August 2018 and has resigned
on 8 February 2022.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Rosan
Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 578), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 1 July 2020 and has
resigned on 1 November 2022.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESBEEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tian Hong (“Mr. Tian”), aged 58, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 August 2020, and now
being the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
and the member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from || 75 B4 48K
B2 (Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) in 2009 and qualified
as a senior economist of The Bank of China in 1998. He has over
30 years of experience in banking and finance.

Mr. Tian was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 4 July 2017
and designated as the member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committees of PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Shen Weidong (“Mr. Shen”), aged 53, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 2 November 2020, and now
being the member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. He holds a Executive Master of Business
Administration Degree from Southwest International University, the
United States. He has over 25 years of managerial experience in hotel
and real estate industries.

Mr. Shen held multiple managerial roles in a number of reputable
corporations since 1996. Mr. Shen is currently the managing director
of LAKLEEE R FHERIEFR QA (Shanxi Economic and
Trade Group Dingxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) and KR
BEEMERZEAR AR (Taiyuan Hengxin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.").

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

As resulted from certain policies on restriction of mining products
importing to PRC and the increased demand in the domestic mining
products market, the overall market prices of mining product in the
Shanxi had been increased significantly in the fourth quarter of 2021.
While under the stabilisation policy of energy supply implemented by
the State Government of PRC, the selling prices of mining products
had maintained stable in the second half of 2022. Nevertheless, the
Group recorded an increase in average selling price of mining products
as compared to the corresponding period in 2021.

Coal mining business

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 5 coking coal mines which
are Fuchang Mine, Jinxin Mine, Liaoyuan Mine, Bolong Mine and
Xinfeng Mine located in Gujiao, Taiyuan City, Shanxi. In addition,
Fuchang Mine was recognised by the Coal Industry Bureau of Shanxi
Province as a ““Z L2 EEZEEE" (Second Class Safe
Production Standardisation Coal Mine*) with a valid period of 3 years
from July 2020.

The coal mines in full operation during the year ended 31 December
2022 were Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine, which entered the joint
trial operation in October 2016 and September 2018 respectively,
passed the inspection for completion in January 2017 and December
2018 respectively and obtained (& &4 EFF 7] &) (the Permit for
Safe Production®) in January 2023 and November 2022 respectively.
Regarding of Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuen Mine, the expected
production capacity are both 600,000 tonnes per year respectively.

*

For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Coal mining business (continued)

In November 2022, the Mine reorganisation and consolidation of
Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine had been approved by the Department
of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province. The existing Mine resources
(“Mine Resources”) of Xinfeng Mine will be combine with production
schedule of Bolong Mine. The expected production schedule for Safe
Production Date of the Mine Resources is after finishing the original
production schedule of Bolong Mines.

In March 2023, the Group was informed by Jinxin Mine that the Safety
Production Certificate of Jinxin Mine has been renewed by the relevant
PRC authority in Shanxi and the coal mining operations of Jinxin
Mine is expected to resume in the second half of 2023. The expected
production capacity of Jinxin Mine is 600,000 tonnes per year. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28
March 2023.

Coal operation business

ERMEARERE S ER A A (Gujiao Hengbotai Coal Trading
Co., Ltd.") (“Hengbotai”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
established in Shanxi, its principle activities are coal processing,
sale of coal products and the provision of coal related services.
Hengbotai commence its operation in second half of 2021 and
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$160,994,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$105,927,000).

Cambodia business

The Group is seeking business opportunities related to cassava-based
agricultural and deep processing business in Cambodia.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental, social and corporate responsibility

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
a higher environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. During the year, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group understands a better future depends
on everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate
in environmental and social activities which benefit the community as
a whole. The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high
quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
sustainable development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Profit for the year

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$347,694,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$751,507,000). The decrease in the profit for the year was mainly
attributable to the combined effects of the factors as stated below:

() Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$2,305,799,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1,612,858,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$692,941,000 or 43.0%, which the revenue is
generated from mining operation and mainly came from Fuchang
Mine and Liaoyuan Mine. The increase in revenue is mainly due
to the increase in the selling price and production units of mining
products during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Profit for the year (continued)

(ii)

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a gross profit of approximately HK$767,973,000 with a gross
profit ratio of 33.3% (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$347,773,000 with a gross profit ratio of 21.6%). The increase
in gross profit and gross profit ratio is mainly due to the increase
in the selling price of mining products during the year.

(iiij) Administrative and other operating expenses

(iv)

12

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$429,725,000 (31
December 2021: approximately HK$387,582,000), which was
mainly due to the increase in the administrative expenses and
other operating expenses in mining operation. Out of the total
administrative and other operating expenses, total staff costs
(included directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately
HK$150,717,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$114,091,000), other tax expenses amounted to approximately
HK$144,987,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$79,858,000), no penalty and fine against Jinxin Mine during
the year (31 December 2021: approximately HK$27,676,000) and
no relocation and removal expenses during the year (31 December
2021: approximately HK$12,272,000).

Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of mining
rights and property, plant and equipment

For the year ended 31 December 2022, reversal of impairment
loss recognised in respect of mining rights and property, plant and
equipment was approximately HK$812,445,000 (31 December
2021: approximately HK$959,527,000) and approximately
HK$322,063,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$299,034,000) respectively. This was the result of increase in
aggregate estimated value in use amount of the Group’s five coal
mines located in Shanxi, mainly due to the overall increase in coal
prices during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Profit for the year (continued)
(v) Finance costs

Finance costs mainly consisted of interest expenses on
borrowings from non-controlling interests, convertible loan
notes, other borrowings and lease liabilities. Interest expenses
on borrowings relating to construction in progress for coal mines
are capitalised to the extent that they are directly attributable and
used to finance the projects. Finance costs were calculated from
total borrowing costs less interest expenses capitalised.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, finance costs amounted
to approximately HK$896,523,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$229,315,000), increased by approximately
HK$667,208,000, mainly resulting from the increase in (i) interest
on other borrowings from approximately HK$21,824,000 to
approximately HK$527,533,000; and (i) interest on other payables
from nil to approximately HK$176,290,000 during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, loss attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$229,533,000 (profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$265,672,000), mainly due to increase in finance
cost by approximately HK$667,208,000 and decrease of reversal of
impairment loss for mining rights and property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$124,053,000 over the year.

Valuation of coal mines

The increase in fair value of coal mines as at 31 December 2022 was
mainly due to the increase in coal prices during the year. Greater
China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”), an independent qualified
professional valuer, estimated the recoverable amounts of the coal
mining business based on income approach using a discount rate of
12.50% (31 December 2021: 12.50%) and expected cleaned coal
price of RMB1,627 per tonne (31 December 2021: expected cleaned
coal price of RMB1,357 per tonne) based on information obtained
from Shanxi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DM

Bt 75 1= o ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Greater China has consistently applied the income approach for the EZE %
valuation of coal mines as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021 (the “Reporting Periods”) respectively. The key assumptions and
parameters in the valuation of coal mines as at the Reporting Periods

are set out as below:

B E (&)

TRIEHEBR T _—_F+_-_A=
+—AERZE—F+ZA=+—B(®HE
B 2 HEERERWRACE - BIER % H
ZIHEFRZEERER2EHINMOT ¢

Reporting Periods

REH
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
ZBIH+tZR=t+-H —E_¥T-A=t—H
Methodology HE Income Approach Income Approach
WA W&

Key Assumptions FTERR

1. Production Schedule - Safe FERRE-%2
Production Date FERH

Bolong Mine NERR Third quarter of 2023 Third quarter of 2022
“E-=FE=F ZEICEE=F
Fuchang Mine REER Operating Operating
EEH HiEH
Jinxin Mine PERER Third quarter of 2023 Third quarter of 2022
“EC=FE=F —E-_FE=F
Liaoyuan Mine RER Operating Operating
EET HiEH
Xinfeng Mine BEER Note Il Note Il
BrE= Pzt =
2. Coking Coal Price (per tonne) RRER (M) RMB1,627 RMB1,357
AR¥1,6277 AE#A1,3577C

3. Recovery rate (cleaned coal) [ R (R 1) 48.4%-53.7% 45.5%-54.0%

4. Discount Rate (post-tax) BRE(FiR) 12.50% 12.50%

5. Mine Operating Costs, Capital RGERAK - BER Based on technical report Based on technical report
Expenditures and Production S‘Zﬁ REERHE issued by John T. Boyd issued by John T. Boyd
Schedule (annual production) (FEE) (“JT Boyd”) in 2017 in 2017

BEABTHEAR(ITHE) BROBTEEAFN
RIB-LEHRZEMRE T tEHEIRNRS
6. Allowable annual working days BEFEIER 276 days 276 days
2761 276H

14 - ANNUAL REPORT 2022 & #



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Note I

Note II:

As shown in the above table, the primary change in valuation
assumption would be the adoption of coking coal price in the years
and delay in mines’ commercial operation schedule. The coking coal
price is based on the existing and past quoted commodity prices
in the mining industry. The production schedule is affected by the
policies and regulations issued applicable to the coal industry. The
coal mines under construction inevitably experienced construction
delay or suspension, therefore reducing the effectiveness of
construction period during the year, leading to further extension of
the respective construction period. There was no change in valuation
methodology in those valuations. For discount rate, calculation of
weighted average cost of capital is based on market participant’s
data which are varied daily due to new information and changing
market expectation every day.

In November 2022, the Mine reorganisation and consolidation of
Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine had been approved by the Department
of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province. The existing Mine resources
of Xinfeng Mine will be combine with production schedule of Bolong
Mine. The expected production schedule for Safe Production Date of
the Mine Resources is after finishing the original production schedule
of Bolong Mines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Total capital deficiencies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$8,969,435,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$8,626,542,000), which were financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$9,435,125,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$9,291,981,000) and total capital deficiencies of
approximately HK$465,690,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$665,439,000).

Gearing

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio as computed
as the Group’s total debts which included convertible loan notes,
amounts due to related companies, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, other borrowings and lease liabilities divided by capital
deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company. Gearing ratio is
not meaningful as the Group has capital deficiencies attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Liquidity
The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$161,675,000 as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:

approximately HK$146,141,000). The Group did not have any bank
borrowings for both years.

16 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

RBEERUBER
EXBHARE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

EEENWMR DN

MBRERRBER

The Board has set out the following key financial performance ZEESF|EH AT X B IEELIEZ - UWES
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance RERALEENEHEEZE T -_—_F+_A=+
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the comparative figures for —HIFFEMEBFRB R T - —FHEF

the corresponding year in 2021:

Indicators

EZ
Revenue growth rate (%)

WAZ TR (%)

Gross profit margin (%)
EME(%)

Profit before taxation (HK$'000)
BR B A A (FA&TT)

Current ratio

ML=

2022
—E-CF

43.0

33.3

575,714

0.09

21.6

998,967

0.07

EOLBRHETF

Objectives:

B #:

assess the growth of the Group’s businesses and
overall sales performance

AHEARBEBNER N BEHEXSE

review the pricing strategy of the Group’s
products and services and direct cost control

TR AN 6% 1B E m e AR 75 B TE (B SR R %
BRI

measure the operating profitability of the Group’s
overall businesses

BEAREERBEBNANES

assess the Group’s ability to meet its short-term
debt obligations
A AREEERESHRERRRE

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4k Bl k@ ABR AR 17



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.19 AND
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

Reference was made to the announcements of the Company dated
19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022, 20 July 2022, 25 July
2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September 2022, 21 October 2022, 21
November 2022, 21 December 2022, 20 January 2023, 20 February
20283 and 21 March 2023.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
19 April 2022, the Company was in discussions with a potential
offeror (the “Potential Offeror”) and other potential investors (the “Other
Potential Investors”), Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), an executive
director and a substantial Shareholder, and a holder of the convertible
loan note, China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited
(the “2017 Noteholder”), in the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of US$40,000,000 (the conversion period of which has
expired) (the “2017 Convertible Loan Note”) for proposed restructuring
of the Group which involves, among other things, (i) subscription of
shares by the Potential Offeror; (i) subscription of shares by the Other
Potential Investors; (jii) sale of 94,292,961 shares held by China OEPC
Limited (“China OEPC”) which is ultimately and beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang and the sale notes held by China OEPC and Mr. Zhang’s
spouse to the Potential Offeror; (iv) engaging Mr. Zhang to manage the
existing coal business of the Group; (v) settling the debts owing to the
2017 Noteholder under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note; (vi) disposal
(the “Disposal”) of certain subsidiaries relating to operations of the
Group in Cambodia to Mr. Zhang; and (vii) waiver of all the outstanding
amounts due from the Company to China OEPC and Mr. Zhang
respectively (after offsetting the amount payable by Mr. Zhang under
the Disposal) (the “Proposed Restructuring”).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
20 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from the
2017 Noteholder on 17 June 2022 demanding redemption by the
Company of all of the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the
Company-to the 2017 Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding
principal amount of US$40,000,000 by repayment of the whole of
the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid interest
accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other amounts due
but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full to the 2017
Noteholder-

18 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

BiE TR BE13.19% 13.211F4E

b2 B

ZIRAARBHHAZZTE-_—_FHA+A
B - ZZE--_F#RA=+H" :E::iﬁ
B-+H -—2B-——€+HF=-+8 -

— 4t A=-+HH " :?::ﬁﬂﬂ +
me - —ZE=-—FhA=+=8"
F+A-+-—H T _F+— H +*
B Zf-_=—F+=-A=+—8 "
F—AZ+H -ZZE_=F-A=-+HEKZ=
E_ZFZA-F+—HBHZA%-

_?__

_7_

BUMARBEMR-_T-_—_FMOA+HIAZ
NREMRE  ARAE—BBEEOANE
E%%Aﬁ&ﬁ@ EEREE(THEMEER

EE]D CRZERE(REE] IITESH
FERR) AR RERA £ 4% 540,000,000

EL A BBRERER(HERBEER)
(22—t FrRREREEDFHE AT E
BRI (BB IREEREBR AR ZZ—tF
ERFBEEADRAEBEREAETERS
R (EFE)ONBEENARERS ¢ (i)
HMBETIREERERS : (MEBEEHA
HERBER (BB IERER AR (T

B (ZAHRTERRESER) MFE
294,292,961 I A% 17 K i /R Bl g R B ok 5 A
ZREBABEZHERE  (WEERLAEE
BAEENRERERES : WEE-_T—+
FOMBRERERBEBETER _Z—tFEE
BEARNEE : ViFARLSE RN ESEAERR
RIBFENEEFENETHBRAR(HES
) ¢ Ri)ER R AR B B P REER &
REEMAMBAREERE(EHBERLER
HEERBIE THWEMNZUER) ([EEE4H) -

BUARBRBAZTE__FA=+AHZ
Aiﬁﬁ?ﬁ&% RZE-_—_FA++B" K
NABEE_T—tFEEFBEAREN—H
BRE  BEXAAaBEEARAAFTR-_ZE—t
FEtATHRAZZ—LFEBRBEAEITZ
RIEEAR£%E40,000,000E T2 2B _F
+TERRERER AR —tFEE

FEABBEE T tLFUBRRERER
BTE2HBAREERESE  SREMBER

B (BERARANE) RAEME M2 R
B ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.19 AND
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
on 22 July 2022, demanding the Company to pay the amount of
US$84,943,738.72 under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.

As at the date of this Report, (a) despite receiving the statutory demand
from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder on 22
July 2022, the Company had not repaid the debt within 3 weeks from
the date of service of the statutory demand and the Group has not
received any further notice of the 2017 Noteholder having commenced
legal proceedings against the Company. The Company is still in the
course of negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder on the settlement of
the debt under statutory demand; (b) discussions and negotiations
in respect of the terms of the Proposed Restructuring are still in
progress; and (c) no legally binding agreements have been entered into
in relation to the Proposed Restructuring. The Proposed Restructuring
is subject to further negotiations among the Company, the Potential
Offeror, Mr. Zhang, and other relevant parties. The Company is in the
course of making an application for a waiver from strict compliance
with the theoretical dilution effect restriction under Rule 7.27B of the
Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange. Further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company as and when appropriate or required in
accordance with the Listing Rules and/or the Takeovers Code (as the
case may be).

Where the circumstances giving rise to the obligations under Rule
13.19 of the Listing Rules continue to exist, the Company will include
relevant disclosures in subsequent interim and annual reports in
accordance with Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules. The Company
will disclose further developments on this matter by way of further
announcement(s) in a timely manner in accordance with requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DM

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

TERB

Business/Operation Risk

x5,/ EERBR

Economic risk

A B

Liquidity risk

nBE TR

Description
it

With the enhancement of structural reform
by the state on the supply side of coal,
coal enterprises are required to support
implementing policies on de-capacity and
optimization. The state tightens requirements
on and ramps up inspection efforts in design,
safety, and environmental protection aspects
of coal mines under construction. In recent
years, relevant policies and regulations on
safety and environmental protection applicable
to the coal industry have become increasingly
stringent and refined.
BEEBR R R P RIABIENE - Bikb
FARSRE R RE(CEE - R &EH
ERREESR  R2NRBRETENE
SRISEMSR - WINKBENE < TEK - &
RRRERITENA AL 2 MIRFREH)EE
BRER T EBERTE

Economic risk is the risk of macro-economy
and policies in Mainland China, the business
of mining operations where the Company
operates in is facing various risks and
uncertainties.

4578 [, B 4 R B P b R A R SR 2 TR
- ANR RIS FTEM IR E S E RS
ERk R TAAAEE -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would
not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.

nBESRBRIEAREAREEITEE BT
BEEZRER -
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TERBRTABEE

Mitigating actions

RIRIETE

The Group will closely monitor and speculate the
existing mines that major technical renovations
are carried out and ensure the production,
environmental, and safety procedures
measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

AEBBZYERREATRBRER - NET
BEREMHSGE - WHEREE  REMKERE
Fria561S & 1ERE B E AR E B FARE o

The Company closely monitors the change of
macro-economy policies in Mainland China and
adjusts its business strategy.

e ERLE L P~ T L
B R EIE -

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

REBRBESRRE  AEBERRER
ERBERRARZHS LB EBYIKYT
NARAREB s XBELERRES AKES

MEKBZHE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FTERK

Credit risk

FEERR

Price risk

B E R

Description
i

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter
party will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

EERREHFIERESVETMERA
SEELMBERRR

Price risk is the risks of significant fluctuations
in international coal prices from year to
year, especially due to the unforeseeable
development of the COVID-19 pandemic, will
cast corresponding significant fluctuations in
year end valuations of intangible assets as
well as exploration and evaluation assets
which may have material impacts on the
Group’s financial results due to the resultant
impairment losses or reversal of impairment
losses, and also on the Group’s total non-
current assets.

BER AR B AR B R IRFRERE 2 A
% BRI R EECOVID-19% 15 2 T~ A]
BRER - SERETLEE N RER &G
BEZFRGELRMBEREAKRE @ K]
BEE P 4 2 RUE B 1R SR B B 1R B B S R
SECHMBEEELEEATE  THAEEH
ZHERDEEREEFERTE -

EEENWmE DM
TERB R T HHEE

Mitigating actions

RIEHE

The Group sets different categories for
customers settling with bills according to
internal credit rating assessment. The Group
does not accept bills from customers with low
credit rating.
REBERBAREETRTERARBET
BEZEPRETRER - AEEMERE
EFABREZEFPREZRE -

The Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of
supervision and control over market price risk
and alert thereof, continuously improves its risk
control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses
control.

ARABMBETHZFBRHAE - TOEEY
TISERAR EEMBEER - FHERT
MIZERRAREEE N - BRI EERN
MFE SR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DM

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FTERK

Exchange rate risk

PEE < [z fix

Environmental Risks

RIFEEAR

People risk

AT R

Legal and regulatory risk

ARENMEERR

Description
it

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect the
Group’s income and the value of its holdings
of assets.

HNERIRIEER BB KT ERE
s EEBEZRER -

B AR E

Environmental Risks is the risk of stringent
requirements in relation to environmental
protection in the Environmental Protection
Law of People’s Republic of China.

RIBER 15 E AR EFIBIR IR (R
HIRBRERHEBERER AR -

AT

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and other
key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s businesses.
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Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
breach of laws and regulations could lead to
litigation, investigations or disputes, resulting
in additional costs on civil and/or criminal
proceedings and reputational damage being
incurred.
FERREERRIEERREAEER I BB
A AESA - MEBRER SHEF
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Mitigating actions

RIEHE

The management closely monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
EREENERMERR  THNERER
ZREFERNEER o

The Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further
strengthens supervision and examination in
terms of environmental protection. It also
constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.
KRR TEERHE  EERE
FIMBRRREERSE - ARAINHE
BERHEE ©
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The Group provides competitive reward and
benefit packages to attract and retain the
employees the Group need and ensure that
the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job
and maximise their satisfaction at work.
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The management closely monitor changes and
developments in the regulatory environment
and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory
changes and seek legal or other specialist
advice as appropriate.
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RECHERETERMBABREE - UBHX
RHIEMEEXEER (WE %)o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

Share charges of entire issued share capital of several subsidiaries of
the Company, charges over the shares and the convertible loan notes
of the Company owned by China OEPC Limited, charge on accounts
receivables to be owed to the Company and land charges over certain
lands in Cambodia acquired or to be acquired by the Group have been
created for securing the convertible bonds. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 27 June 2017.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds from equity and/or debt financing activities. All
financing methods will be considered as long as such methods are
beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits are in HK$, RMB, US$ and
Cambodian dollars (“KHR”).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

The Group had capital commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which were contracted but not provided for as at
31 December 2022 of approximately HK$457,573,000 (31 December
2021: approximately HK$759,442,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group earned revenue in
RMB and incurred costs in HK$, RMB, US$ and KHR. Although the
Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy,
it does not foresee any significant currency exposure in the near
future. However, any permanent or significant change in RMB against
HK$, may have possible impact on the Group’s results and financial
positions.

PROSPECTS

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to major disturbances to global
energy supply chains. In December 2022, the PRC government
ended its zero-COVID policy and are managing efforts in resuming
the economy to normal. The economy of PRC has begun to recover
steadily and comprehensively. Nevertheless, the Board is of the view
that the Coal Mining Business is still full of challenges, such as rising
competition from renewable energies, and tightening government
regulations and industry practices due to increasing environmental,
social and corporate governance awareness.

In the future, the Board will develop the competitive edges of the
Group to enhance the performance of core businesses at a steady
pace and will also actively seize investment opportunities prudently
and thoroughly in order to generate favourable returns for our
shareholders. The Group will maintain stringent corporate governance
and leverage our competitive advantages to create greater value for
our shareholders, employees and society.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERME

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets, AN ARNEEIZBL S FEHERM EATEE
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group, prepared on the EREZ D AMEEANNEE - BIERIFE
basis set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. ERZE o B TEREEZLES
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial ~ BAf§RFzRE A —2 5 o

statements.

RESULTS ¥E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

—E--fF —T-—F —T-TF —T-NF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET FET FHET FiET

Revenue LON 2,305,799 1,612,858 1,303,796 944,258 1,004,636
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREBADER, (HB) 575,714 998,967 (852,913) (1,323,913) (3,153,345)
Income tax (expense)/credit  FriE% (BIx%), % (228,020) (247,460 102,455 119,054 670,242
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(HR),RwA 347,694 751,507 (660,458)  (1,204,859) (2,483,103
Less: Attributable to o EEREREN

non-controlling

interests (577,227)  (485,835) 348,096 509,209 1,301,041
(Loss)/profit attributable pYNGTE 2SN

to owners of the Company (&8, %F (229,533) 265,672 (312,362)  (695,650) (1,182,062)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE  BERFERER

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E--f T —E-TF —E-HFE —E-N\E
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FHET

Non-current assets ERBEE 8,261,323 8,076,108 6,803,141 7,049,630 7,901,132
Current assets MEEE 708,112 550,434 275,090 196,646 358,763
Current liabilities prEIR=LE (7,806,699) (7,524,993) (6,535,843) (2,454,463) (1,405,684)
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (7,098,587) (6,974,559) (6,260,753) (2,257,817) (1,046,921)
Total assets less current liabilities & EZER T EE 1,162,736 1,101,549 542,388 4,791,813 6,854,211
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,628,426) (1,766,988) (1,966,376) (5,693,848) (6,617,348
Non-controlling interests iR = (2,121,661) (1,685,622) (1,196,916) (1,552,400) (2,065,414)
Capital deficit attributable to RARHEA AEL

owners of the Company BB (2,587,351) (2,351,061) (2,620,904) (2,454,435) (1,828,551)
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration and
development, sale of coking coal, coal processing, sales of coal
products and provision of coal related services; (i) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 of
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position and
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Summary Financial Information” on page 4, page 9
to page 25 respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part of
this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 92 of this

report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 of the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 526,260,404 shares of
HK$0.001 each in issue (31 December 2021: 526,260,404 shares).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 96, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 (the “Act”) of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay dividend,
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as they
become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium.
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At 31 December 2022, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution or distribution in species. Subject to the Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of approximately HK$9,049,712,000 is
distributable (31 December 2021: approximately HK$9,049,712,000).
The Company’s contributed surplus and share premium account in the
amount of approximately HK$9,049,712,000 at of 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$9,049,712,000), following a
reduction thereof in compliance with the Act and the Shareholders’
approval, may be set off against the Company’s accumulated losses.
Thereafter, any balance in the Company’s share premium account
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
or the laws of Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMER AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
73% of the Group’s total sales in 2022. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 99% of the Group’s
total sales in 2022.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 100%
of the total purchases in 2022.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the substantial
Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the Company
have been entered into or have existed.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated according
to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy are
reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately 1,122
full time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual and business performance. Other
employee benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance and
medical coverage, training programs and share option.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s
performance, prevailing market conditions and the market emoluments
for directors of other listed companies and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 under review amounted to
approximately HK$150,717,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$114,091,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff in Hong
Kong . Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Details of the retirement
and employee benefits scheme of the Group are disclosed in the
section headed “Employee benefits” set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report respectively.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2021: Nil).

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

In accordance with Bye-laws 111(A) and 115 and the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, each of Mr. Tse Michael Nam and Mr. Tian Hong shall retire
from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as
executive Director or independent non-executive Director (as the case
may be).

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the confirmation of
independence from all three (3) independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”), namely Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and concluded
that all of them are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the INEDs has been impaired up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which, the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, substantial Shareholders nor any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which causes or may cause competes or may cause any
significant competition with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and in Note 15 of the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares granted to any of the Directors
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, or related companies a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “HKCQO”), were as follows:

(i) Long/short position in the shares

No. of

Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held
EENS ERME R aEE
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Corporate Interest 94,292,961
R=EEAE B R

91,361,894
Mr. Tse Michael Nam Beneficial owner 7,658
BEFLEE EmEA A
Notes:

1 China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth Enterprises Limited
(“Best Growth”) and is ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang.
Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by China OEPC. As at 31 December 2022,
China OEPC held 94,292,961 shares in which 91,361,894 shares
had been pledged.

2 The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.
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EERIETBRAERERS
MERODRES ZEERAR

RZEBE-—F+-fF=+—H ARAES
FEBTBRABETEEZETBRABDRAAR
S EAERAE AR (EE RLEFHFRPEKRD
([FB 5 K EAE 5] ) EBEXVER) 2 B - BRI
D RESFPEFIRIEE S LS ED EXVED
FIRFESHHEME AR R KRBT 2 s
AR (BIEREFESF B EED ZZEK
XRANEFHESHB BT RKR)
REERRARARBEES RBEKIE
35215 M EBFE 2 B > SARE EHARR
MHEF10FTE EMBETAERHTEEFIZN
12 A< R ([T Al R BB ADIEC2EH B
ARNEHI(TARNEDI]) B ane& AN Q7 KB A
ZRESEABMWT

() RBRBzHR KE
Approximate

percentage of
issued share

capital as at
Note Position 31 December 2022
R-B-—F
+=BA=+—H
HEBTREAZ
Bt & BE BABEDL
1 Long 17.9175%
e
Short 17.3606%
K
Long 0.0015%
e
FisE -

1 P E&E R B Best Growth Enterprises
Limited([Best Growth) BE%= %A * M
RAEEABRKRERBEEA - Bt BIE
BEMBEKED  REEWEABRE
B REBZMEROPHBEZ
RZZT—_=F+_A=+—8 #H&
BEVRI5 594,202,961 B 1p + H
91,361,894 A% {5 B 3 K 17 o

2 HBELAETIRE-_FT-—_—_+=A
=+ —HBE%*171526,260,404 A% 17
A8 e
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) Long/short position in the underlying shares

EEREIETBRAEREKS
MERGRES 2EER AR (E)

(i) REBERGZEFR KR

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares held
BEpg &% FiERAHEE
Personal Family Corporate
Interests Interests interests
BAER RiEER AEER
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Beneficial owner - 68,181,818 -
G- p: ExEBEA
Interest in controlled - - 1727,272,727
corporation
REEHEEL
1
Notes:

1

These underlying shares are held by Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of
Mr. Zhang, for the amount of HK$15,000,000 convertible loan notes
(“CN”), which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares. By virtue of
the SFO, these underlying shares are deemed as a family interest
to Mr. Zhang. The HK$15,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20
October 2022.

These underlying shares are held by China OEPC which is beneficially
owned by Best Growth and is ultimate beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang for the amount of HK$380,000,000 CN, which are
convertible into 1,727,272,727 shares. By virtue of the SFO, these
underlying shares are deemed as a corporate interest to Mr. Zhang.
The HK$380,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Number of capital as at
share 31 December
options held Note Position 2022
R=B=Zf
t=A=t-A
Fi% REBTRAZ
BRESE W wE R
Personal
interests
BAES
- 1 Long 12.9559%
)
- 2 long 328.2164%
iE
Bt 5 -

1

ZEHBERMBREEZEBHBELR
+ A4 %8 415,000,000 7T 2 A # j%
EXREE((AIRBREE]  AJEHRA
68,181,818 1D FH - BIFFEH & H
BIEF > ZSHEBROWERERLEEY
RIS  %15,000,000/8 7T A] # J =
BER-_ZT-_F+A=+HEHIH-

ZEREROBTREAERASEA
380,000,000/%8 7t 2 A] # A% 2= % (R] 3 i
B1,727,272, 727D FE - Mz
A8 fBest GrowthZ w5 #A KR L4
BIREBEDHE c BREFFRBEEEG -
ZEHBEROEEARLEZ AER
%5 ° #%380,000,0008 T AT R Z T
R-_ZTE-——F+HA=+HEFH -

ZEALTIRE-_E-_—_F+=-A4
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) Long/short position in the underlying shares
(continued)

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2022, certain
Directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain
subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the
purpose of complying with the minimum company membership
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executive and their respective associates
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code and the HKCO, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executive are aware, as at
31 December 2022, other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive as disclosed, the following persons
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would are required to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of the Group:

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares

No. of shares

and/or

Name of substantial underlying

Shareholders Nature of interest shares held

iR R,~

TERRER EmME RABRRDEE

Ms. Hao Ting Beneficial owner 68,181,818
e+ E=AA

Interest of controlled 1,821,565,688
corporation

Ry rE S

Best Growth
Enterprises Limited

91,361,894
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BEARBEESRPERD
SEXVERSE2R 30 BN E 2 R

RKREBZATREERRK

REENTIBTBRAEMAE R-T-—
F+-A=t+—HB BARBEZEERTE
TTBRABZEm MIRRIN  THALRAR
AR AR D T - AR R EBR
BESFMAEGIIEXVEE2RE3D FRE
BRARR R R E 2 S IRE - X
EERRARAIRER S MHAEHHIFE336
GREBEIELM  HEXXEEREEGMH
BRENAINEMBER TEAEBEEMKER
Az RR ARG FRARZAEARARIRAEEI0%
oA b2 s

(i) R RIEER G 2w

Note

B

Position

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital as at
31 December
2022
R=-B==F
+=-—A=+—H
HERTREZ
BHABEDL

12.9559%

346.1339%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Name of substantial
Shareholders

FERRERE

China OEPC Limited
REEER(BE)
ERR AR A A]

China Huarong (Macau)
International Company
Limited

B 5 CRPT) BB
SR =1 NC]

China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd.
PEEREEEIRRD

No. of shares

and/or

underlying

Nature of interest shares held

FEROR,

EEuE RAERER A EE

Beneficial owner 1,821,565,688

E=mEA A

91,361,894

Interest of controlled 208,937,651
corporation
Sy EE S

Interest of controlled 208,937,651

corporation
R LE R
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FERREREMALTRRORE
HERG 2 S RX A (&)

BRARBESRNEHKM
SEXVERFE2K 30 BRI B 2 MR
KREZALTREERR

() RERGRIEER G 2B ()

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

BRAF]
Notes:

1 Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of Mr. Zhang, beneficially owns the amount of
HK$15,000,000 CN which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Hao is also deemed to be interested in the
94,292,961 shares and derivative interest held by China OEPC. The
HK$150,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

capital as at

31 December

Note Position 2022

N —&

+=B=+—H

HEBTREAZ

M & ¥R BHAEDLE

2 Long 346.1339%
e

Short 17.3606%
KR

36 Long 39.7023%
FR

3-6 Long 39.7023%
e

MI5E

1

MELL(REEZEB EESZHA
15,000,000 T Z AT IR & « 3250
IR Z 48 A 5 R 568,181,818 A% 1D ©
BIEZS REBEG - BRI HRA
R BAERIE G 294,292,961 ik 5 &
TR HEAER ° 7215,000,000/%
TABRREEEN _E-_—F+A=-+
HEH -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2

China OEPC beneficially owns 94,292,961 shares in which
91,361,894 shares had been pledged and the amount of
HK$380,000,000 CN which are convertible into 1,727,272,727
shares. China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth and
ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Zhang and Best Growth are deemed to be interested in
those shares and derivative interests held by China OEPC. The
HK$380,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (“Huarong
(HK)”) beneficially owns shares and convertible loan note. Huarong
(HK) is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong (Macau)
International Company Limited (“Huarong (Macau)”). By virtue of the
SFO, Huarong (Macau) was deemed to be interested in those Shares
and derivative interests held by Huarong (HK). Such convertible
bond have been fallen due on 9 July 2020 and the Group is in the
negotiation with Huarong (HK) to restructure the repayment timetable
of the Company’s financial obligation.

Huarong (Macau) is held 51% of shares by Huarong (HK) Industrial
Financial Investment Limited (“Huarong IFI”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong IFI was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong (Macau) was interested.

Huarong IFl is wholly and beneficially owned by Huarong Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huarong REC”). By virtue of the SFO, Huarong REC
was deemed to be interested in those shares and derivative which
Huarong IFI was interested.

Huarong REC is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong AM”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong AM was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong REC was interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Except as disclosed above and so far as the Directors were
aware, as at 31 December 2022, there was no other party who
had an interest or short position in the shares, the underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which would be required to
be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
herein.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
approved and adopted by the Company based on the Shareholders’
resolution passed on 28 May 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share option (the “Share Option(s)”) to certain employees of
the Group and any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant. Any further grant will be conditional upon Shareholders’
approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Options
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined by the Board but in any event no later than 10 years
from the date of grant. There is no specified minimum period for which
the Share Options must be held before it can be exercised. An offer
of the grant of the Share Options shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of 28 days from the date upon which is it made and a
non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of the Share Options.

The exercise price of the Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of
the share on the date of grant.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 24 April 2015.

On 31 May 2019, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
Shareholders at an annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM”), approving, inter alia, the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit under the Share Option Scheme. Upon the refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant the Share Options
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum number
of 43,866,160 Share Options, representing approximately 8.34% of
the number of issued shares as at the date of the 2019 AGM (the
“Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”). Further details of the refreshment
of the scheme mandate limit can be referred to the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2019 and the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2019.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The particulars of movements in the Share Options during the year

ended 31 December 2022 are set out as follow:
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BRESEFBEIIWT

Number of Share Options
EREZA
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed as at
Share 1 January during during during during 31 December
Options type 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022
R-B-Z R-B--%
=fl=[z RER RER RER RER  +=A=t+-H
BRESR HRTE il % B £% e R AT
Other grantees 2018 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Eft#RA —Z)\F
Details of specific categories of the Share Options are as follows: BEBEAERECFFBEOT
Closing price
Share Vesting before the  Exercise
Options type Date of grant  proportion  Vesting period Exercisable period grant date price
Riti B HAI 2
BREER RitiAH BELE BEES g KhE  TEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2018 24 May 2018 50.00% Immediately vested 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2028 5.60 7.00
—E-N\F “E-N\F HEEE “Z-\FRA-tWmBEZE
EA-1MA “E-\fRA-+=H
50.00% 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2019 24 May 2019 to 23 May 2028
“Z-)\FRA-tWHEE —E-NERA-tWEAZ
ZE-NFRAZT=AH ZEZ\fRAZT=A

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of the Shares Options
available for issue under the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit of the
Share Option Scheme is 43,866,160, representing approximately
8.34% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this

annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no Share Option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during the year.

M-ZBE-—F+-A=+—0 RIZERE
ETEI 2B AT EIR R R Al (31T 2 BB AR
B 543,866,16010 @ HHE KRR AIRA
FHRAL 2 BEITRRALIS.834% ©
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code for
the year ended 31 December 2022 except for the following deviation.
Details of corporate governance are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” in this report.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Tse
Michael Nam has taken up the roles of the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of the Company which
constituted a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.
Mr. Tse has extensive management skills, knowledge and experience.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and
the CEQ in the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s
business strategies and boost the effectiveness of its operation.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in this circumstance.
In addition, under the supervision of the Board, which is comprised of
two (2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group as far as the Board is aware.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a good standard of corporate
social governance essential for bringing a framework for motivating
employees to contribute to our community.

The Group has made continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in daily business operations. The principles of recycling
and reducing will always be encouraged to adhere to as much as
possible, such as implementing green office practices of double-sided
printing-and -copying, setting up recycling bins and switching off idle
lightings and regulating air-conditioning in different zoning.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
(CONTINUED)

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report conducted by a
professional third party for year 2022 will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 had been by Elite Partners CPA Limited (the
“Auditor”), who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment as the Auditor at the Company’s forthcoming annual
general meeting.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022

The following is an extract of the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had accumulated losses of approximately HK$11,805,738,000
and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets and total
liabilities exceeds its total assets of approximately HK$7,098,587,000
and approximately HK$465,690,000 as at 31 December 2022. As at
the same date, the Group’s total borrowings (including amount due to
a director, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings,
amounts due to related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to
approximately HK$6,582,185,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted bank balances) amounted to approximately
HK$164,269,000 only.

In addition, as at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
borrowings and other payables were overdue for repayment or
contained a repayable on demand clause as below: (a) convertible
loan notes issued in 2017 with the remaining outstanding principal
amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) and the
default interests were matured and overdue for repayment as at 31
December 2022; (b) convertible loan notes issued in 2020 with the
amounts of HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 were matured
and overdue for repayment as at 31 December 2022; (c) amounts
due to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,700,952,000
were outstanding by the Group as at 31 December 2022. Included
in amounts due to non-controlling interests with the amounted of
approximately HK$3,954,932,000 were matured and overdue as at
31 December 2022, while the remaining portion of HK$1,746,020,000
were contained a repayable on demand clause; and (d) other payables
with the carrying amounts of approximately RMB119,709,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$134,792,000) and the default
interests was matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2022,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (continued)
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern (continued)

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, there is no winding up petition against
the Company nor new demand letter received by the Group and the
overdue balances are remain unsettled in relation to the above items.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position so as to be able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the eventual successful outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including whether: (a) the Group can successfully to negotiate with
the convertible loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due
dates; (b) the Group can successfully to negotiate with non-controlling
interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment
due dates; (c) the Group can successfully to negotiate with other
payables related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries due
by the Group for extending the repayment due dates; (d) the Group
can successfully take active measure to increase the profitability of
the Group’s mining operation and coal operation in order to improve
operating cash flows and its financial position; and (e) the Group
can successfully to obtain the external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (continued)
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern (continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future cash
flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required may have
consequential significant effects on the consolidated net liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 and the consolidated profit and
total comprehensive income and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and the related elements and disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2022 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(@)

the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

discussions and negotiations between the Group and the 2017
Noteholder with the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) in respect of the
amount due by the Group is still in progress and no legally binding
agreements have been entered into the same;

discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2020 Noteholders”) of the convertible loan notes issued in
2020 (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes”) with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 in respect of the amount
due by the Group are still in progress and no legally binding
agreements have been entered into the same;

the Group is in the negotiation with the counterparty of other
payables related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries
due by the Group for extending the repayment due dates;

the Group is actively taking measures to increase the profitability
of the Group’s mining and coal operation in order to improve
the operating cash flows and its financial position; and

the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN
(CONTINUED)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder and the 2020
Noteholders to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations;

(i) successfully negotiation with the counterparty of other payables to
extend the repayment due dates;

(iv) successfully increase the profitability of mining and coal operations
in order to improve operating cash flows and financial position;
and

(v) successfully obtain external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

The Non-Controlling Interests

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2021
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, the non-controlling interests has not demanded for immediate
repayment of the outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no
formal documentation, the non-controlling interests had indicated its
willingness for extension.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2017 Noteholder

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 April
2022, the Company was in discussions with the Potential Offeror
and the Other Potential Investors, Mr. Zhang, and 2017 Noteholder
for the Proposed Restructuring of the Group which involves, among
other things, (i) subscription of shares by the Potential Offeror; (ii)
subscription of shares by the Other Potential Investors; (i) sale of
94,292,961 shares held by China OEPC which is ultimately and
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang and the Sale Notes held by China
OEPC and Mr. Zhang’s spouse to the Potential Offeror; (iv) engaging
Mr. Zhang to manage the existing coal business of the Group; (v)
settling the debts owing to the 2017 Noteholder under the 2017
Convertible Loan Note; (vi) the Disposal; and (vii) waiver of all the
outstanding amounts due from the Company to China OEPC and Mr.
Zhang respectively (after offsetting the amount payable by Mr. Zhang
under the Disposal).

On 17 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from
the 2017 Noteholder demanding redemption by the Company of all of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the Company to the 2017
Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) by repayment of the
whole of the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid
interest accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other
amounts due but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full
to the 2017 Noteholder.

On 22 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
demanding the Company to pay the amount of US$84,943,738.72
under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% <81% 1%

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

BBFEEE 2THM 8 (8
“E-EERERAA

BMARNRHBEA—ZE-_—_FNA+TILBZ
REFMEE  ARaE-—Z2BEENARE
MBEEREE  RELAUR B+ FZH
BEARAEEZEZEHETER SR
(AR O\VEEENARERSD ; ()iHM4E
EREERBRS : (iRBEEHARES
Bt R (Z AR BEREERKERME)TE
294,292,961 I I 10 Fo B3 R B e R BA oK 5t
EVRBAFEECHERE  (VEERLAE
EREAEEMNREEERELS  WVEEZ-_Z—
tFARBREREBRBETERA S —FE
BEBANER  )EEEE : R(vi)E®
RRAE DRI P REEEREREENE R
EEFE(EERERLEREESHEETY
FETRIRR) ©

RZZE-_—_FA+EH KARAREE-Z
—tFEBERAEABLN—MHBRE  EX
KAREBA T —+FEEZEFEEABHE
ErRHREErAcE(EREMBARNE
AFB(BRIEENFBI R T —tFaBmRk
EREBETEMEMIBAERINZR
H) BOAQRREIRN -_ZE—+FLA+HMA
TE+FEBEBBABRTIHREELRS
H /540,000,000 7T (FHE #2312,000,0007%8
OB —E—tFABRERER -

RNRIE-_—F+A-+=-H  AAREER
KT tFEBEBEANTEZEZERR
BEBEDERER R (BB RBEEE K
BIZE327(4)@Q)IEBEHNEEERERGE 2
KARB TN ZE—+F A BRRERERLE
T284,943,738.72% JT °

SEAFRAF 49



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)
2017 Noteholder (continued)

As at the date of this report, (a) despite receiving the Statutory Demand
from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder, China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited on 22 July 2022,
the Company had not repaid the debt within 3 weeks from the date
of service of the statutory demand and the Group has not received
any further notice of the 2017 Noteholder having commenced legal
proceedings against the Company. The Company is still in the course
of negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder on the settlement of the debt
under statutory demand; (b) discussions and negotiations in respect
of the terms of the Proposed Restructuring are still in progress; and
(c) no legally binding agreements have been entered into in relation to
the Proposed Restructuring. The Proposed Restructuring is subject
to further negotiations among the Company, the Potential Offeror,
Mr. Zhang, and other relevant parties. The Company is in the course
of making an application for a waiver from strict compliance with the
theoretical dilution effect restriction under Rule 7.27B of the Listing
Rules to the Stock Exchange. Further announcement(s) will be made
by the Company as and when appropriate or required in accordance
with the Listing Rules and/or the Takeovers Code (as the case may
be).

For details, please refer to the relevant announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022, 20
July 2022, 25 July 2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September 2022, 21
October 2022, 21 November 2022, 21 December 2022, 20 January
2023, 20 February 2023 and 21 March 2023.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2020 Noteholders

The Company and the 2020 Noteholders are in the course of
negotiating for an extension of the maturity date of the 2020
Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders of new convertible notes with the subscription monies to
be satisfied by setting off against the amount due by the Company to
the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes. The
2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current intention
to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the Company
to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes
as at the day of this report. For details, please refer to the relevant
announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022.

For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s) will be made
by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements to inform the public and its Shareholder upon entering
into the relevant definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the
2020 Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders.

Other Payables

On 3 November 2022, the Group received a demand letter from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the counterparty of other payables,
demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the default
interest outstanding by the Group. As of the date of this report, the
Group is still negotiating with the other payable on the repayment.

Coal Mining and Coal Operating Business

The Group maintained a steady development that made progress
in the coal mining and coal operating business in 2022. During
the year, the increase in both the selling price of coking coals and
coal production volume reflected the increase in demand for coals
in Shanxi. Therefore, the Group expected that cash inflow would
continue to be generated steadily in 2023 to improve the overall
financial position of the Group.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

External Facilities and Fund Raising

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached a number of financial institutions and/
or other investor(s). Up to the date of this report, the Group has not
concluded or reached any agreements with those financial institutions
and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to explore
appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the Directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2023. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending 31
December 2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
(8) members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the Auditor the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022,

By the order of the Board
Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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The Board and the Company’s management are highly committed to
maintaining good corporate governance practices, internal control,
risk management and transparency in fulfilling their corporate
responsibility and accountability to the Shareholders. The Board and
the management recognise that the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices is an essential factor in achieving financial
success and enhancing Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles set out with the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on corporate
governance practices.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the following
deviations:

—  Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
Mr. Tse Michael Nam has taken up the roles of the chairman
(the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of
the Company which constituted a deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has extensive management skill,
knowledge of experience. The Board believes that vesting the
roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in the same person can
facilitate the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
boost the effectiveness of its operation. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in this circumstance. In addition,
under the supervision of the Board, which is comprised of two
(2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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Vision B 89 Mission FE &
e Competitive e We pursue sustainable
BEBRFEN growth by providing
¢ Innovative high quality products
BIF and services to
e Customer focused own customers
LERAE EMBHEBRBECH
EFRMUSEEEMR
BRI RERAIFERR

In view of the company’s core business are coal mining and coal
operation, we straightly comply with the national safety protocols
for coal mines, the policies and regulations on safety, environmental
protection, and production control in line with the corporate culture
in order to develop a safety working environment for our employees
and provide high-quality products and services for our customers. The
Board will continue to look for suitable opportunities for the sustainable
development of the Group to enhance the value of the Group and
create higher profitability for its shareholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this report, the Board is composed of five (5)
members comprising two (2) executive Directors (the “ED(s)”) and
three (3) independent non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”).

Composition
Executive Directors:

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

The number of INEDs represent more than one-third of the Board
membership. One INED has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The names and biographical details of each Director are
disclosed on page 6 to page 8 of this Annual Report. There is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among the Board members.

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions

The Board is tasked with the responsibility of directing and supervising
the Company’s businesses and affairs and promoting its success and
growth. The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company and is responsible for directing and
supervising the overall management of the Company with regards to
the implementation and maintenance of internal control procedures
and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements, the
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as required under the CG Code. The major roles and functions
of the Board in respect of the corporate governance are:

— to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance matters
for the financial year 2022:

— review the policy and practices on corporate governance;

— review of the compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the CG Code; and

— review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

During the year, the management had provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance and position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under
the Listing Rules.

The Company had maintained an appropriate level of insurance cover
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries throughout the year ended 31 December
2022,

Each Director has disclosed to the Company in a timely manner of any
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. All such changes
during the year and up to the date of this report have been disclosed
in the Report of the Directors section of this annual report.

Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and CG Code. Generally,
at least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings are given and the
Company aims at giving reasonable notice of other Board meetings.
Prior to each Board meeting (for regular meetings, at least 3 days
prior), the Chairman, with the support of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), ensures that every Director has
been properly briefed on issues and provided with the agenda and
accompanying Board papers containing adequate information provided
by the management to enable them to make informed decisions at the
meeting. Every member of the Board has an opportunity to propose
matters in the agenda for discussion at each Board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

Minutes of Board meetings and committees meetings are taken by
the Company Secretary and maintained at the Company’s premises.
Minutes of the Board and committees meetings record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board or committees and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or
dissenting views expressed. Drafts and final versions of minutes are
sent to all Directors for their comments within a reasonable time after
the Board and committees meetings are held. Every member of the
Board is entitled to inspect Board papers and related materials and
has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Where queries are raised by any of the
Directors, responses are provided as promptly and fully as possible.
The Directors may also upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of
the Company. So far and save as disclosed, there has not been any
case where a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material.

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors

A Director may be appointed either by the Shareholders in a general
meeting or by the Board upon the recommendation from the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will take into
consideration criteria such as expertise, experience, integrity and
commitment in appointment of new Directors. All candidates must also
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing
Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as independent non-
executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company had complied with Rules 3.10(1),
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment
of a sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors and
at least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors
(continued)

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are appointed for a fixed term of not more than two years. Under
code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Under the Bye-laws 111 and
114 of the Company, one-third of the Directors, with the exception of
Chairman or Deputy Chairman, Managing Director or joint Managing
Director, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company. New Directors appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy during any year are required to retire and
submit themselves for election at the first general meeting immediately
following their appointments. Notwithstanding the provisions of the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), the Company intends
to comply with the code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code by way of
having one-third of all the Directors, including those appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general
meeting at least once every three years.

Chairman and chief executive officer

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
not performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and chief executive officer should be
established and written.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Tse Michael Nam
has taken up the roles of the Chairman and the CEO, it constituted
a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has
extensive management skills, knowledge and experience. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in
the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost its operational effectiveness. Besides, under
the supervision of the Board comprising of two (2) EDs and three
(3) INEDs, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

60 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

EEE2(#@

2 EERBRZEEZ(#E)

PREZ(BEBILINTES)IZEZAEE
FHEATZRME - REELEETNR
SFRIZSFREXEB 22K KREE(BEAR
EEAHNES) BAE=-F2VHBEERET—
Ko RIBARRMATMABIEI11 R 11415 -
=HZ BB (XFHENEE  EZRERE
SR HE B B AR IRBRIN) AR AR R IR R
BFERES LBFEESR  WEEKREBIRET-
RERFERNEESSRBARBRRERET
MTEEBTEREESEENEARE
AE ERME - WAIERET - BEEALQR
ZAaMEI([ARIMAADEE » XRAIBE
BT REEATAEB22MG  F=02— 3
REERREAEEAHNES)EAELE=
FREERRAFAS LHESR -

EFRRITHAR

RBEEEARTRZTAMGNC.21 » TFHE
TS zABRERD - ATEAR—A
RRFRME -  TRETRARZEREZD T
JEFRRELAZESH

REBE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—BIFE
HEEEERERETIFERITRER Y A
B BEKEEERSTR 2 FRMESC.2.1
ZIREE - WAAEREEES C BB - A%
NiEs c EEEAE - ARE—AREEZREE
THBRE 2 ACTAREAREEERRE ZH
TRREEEERE - 1IN EEEE (A
MR)BRITEER =)L B I EHITESH
RIZEET AARRAEECEBEE
RENHIEERRE - ATIRER A O MREERAR
A R E AR R 2 )5 e



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Diversity

The Board adopts a board diversity policy which aims to build
and maintain diversity of the Board in terms of skills, professional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age, and
other attributes and strengths that are required for the Company’s
business from time to time. The policy stipulates that the Board
appointments will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective selection criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee is
delegated by the Board to review the board diversity policy annually,
make recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity of the Board as appropriate and monitor the
progress on achieving the objectives.

The Board understands a single gender board will not consider
diversity to be achieved. The Board has looked forward the potential
candidates and will appoint a director of a different gender no later
than 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 1,122 staffs. The
ratio of male to female is 6:1. The Board is satisfied that the Company
has achieved gender diversity in its workforce and will continue to
maintain gender diversity among all our staff as the goal.

Independence

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
INEDs to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to
achieving sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees
independence at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
Accordingly, the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of independence on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews and evaluates the Board and the committees’
structure, as well as the appointment, tenure, and remuneration of
the non-executive Directors (including INEDs), and also conducts the
annual assessment of the independence of the INEDs. In addition,
the Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to review the
Independence Policy annually and make recommendations to the
Board to ensure the effectiveness of the policy.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had
been in compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules by having at all times three INEDs on its Board with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

Each of the non-executive Director (including INED) was appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years from the date of his/her
appointment. Upon the expiry of the initial term, the appointment may
be renewed automatically for another term of not more than two years.

The Company had received written confirmation of independence for
the year ended 31 December 2022 from all INEDs. Each of the INED
met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considered each of them to be so.

The non-executive Directors (including INEDs) have been participating
in Board meetings to being an independent judgement to bear on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct, taking the lead where potential
conflicts of interests arise, serving on the Audit Committee, the
Nomination, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committees, scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring performance
reporting, making a positive contribution to the development of the
Group’s strategy and policies through independent, constructive and
informed comments and giving the Board and committees in which
they serve, the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active participation.
Each Director has also given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs during the year.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005 with
specific written terms of reference detailing the Remuneration
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and
making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration and review of the policy and
the procedure annually. The Remuneration Committee has been
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board for the remuneration of the
non-executive Directors (including INEDs) after conducted the Board
evaluation annually.

In fulfilling its functions, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment, and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and whether the remuneration packages are
competitively attractive to retain the executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee members may consult
the Chairman about their proposals relating to the remuneration
of the Directors and have access to sufficient resources including
professional advice if considered necessary. No Director can, however,
approve his own remuneration.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three (3) members, all of whom were INEDs.
The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of
this report are Mr. Tian Hong (the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
and the remuneration package of the other Directors and the senior
management (which had remained unchanged from the previous year)
and other related matters including the Board evaluation.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 December 2015
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Nomination
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee had been published on the Company’s website
as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprised four (4) members, three (3) of whom were
INEDs. The members of the Nomination Committee as at the date of
this report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Tian Hong and Mr. Shen
Weidong.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, among
other things, review the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company
corporate strategy; identify candidates with suitable qualifications
as Directors, select and make recommendations to the Board on
selection of Board members; assess the independence of INEDs;
and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment and succession planning for Directors
and assessing the independence of INEDs.

In fuffilling its functions, the Nomination Committee has been provided
sufficient resources by the Company to seek independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has a policy concerning diversity of
Board members which aims to maintain the Board with a diversity of
Directors in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, with a view to enhancing the quality of
performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets not less than once a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; (ii) review the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service) of the Board; and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s
corporate strategy; and (i) review the procedures for Shareholders to
elect Director which had been published in the Company’s website as
well as the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in June 1999 with clear written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
had been published on the Company’s website as well as the Stock
Exchange’s website.

The Audit Committee was comprised of three members during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report, all of
whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit Committee as at the
date of this report was Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”), the Directors and other members of the
management. The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor twice
during the year ended 31 December 2022 with regards to review of
the Company’s financial report and accounts.

The Audit Committee meet at least twice a year to review (i) the
Company’s results and the accompanying auditor’s report; (i) the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company; and (i)
the financial, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established in September 2017
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Risk Management
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the Risk
Management Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for reviewing of the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function, and such other duties as stipulated
under the Codes as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Risk Management
Committee comprised four (4) members, one (1) ED and three (3)
INEDs. The members of the Risk Management Committee as at the
date of this report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the
Risk Management Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen
Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong.

The principal responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
are, among other things, (i) advise the Board on the Group’s risk
appetite statement(s), risk principles and other risk-related issues
including corporate actions and proposed strategic transactions
such as mergers, acquisitions and disposals; (ii) oversee risk
management framework to identify and deal with financial, operational,
legal, regulatory, technology, business and strategic risks faced
by the Group and amend and supplement this from time to time;
(iii) approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances; (iv) consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively; (v) review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies; (vi) review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including the enterprise
risk management program, the risk management systems, the
internal audit function relating to risk management and the Group’s
contingency plans; (vii) review the Group’s capital adequacy and
solvency levels; (viii) monitor stress testing results of the Group’s key
risk exposures; (ix) to deal with other work assigned by the Board;
and (x) issue report(s) on how the Risk Management Committee met
its responsibilities in its review of the risk management, the internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Risk Management Committee (Continued)

In fulfilling its functions, the Risk Management Committee has been
provided sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Risk Management Committee meets at least twice a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; and (i) review any risk or potential
risk of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related
matters and the overall risk management strategies of the Company.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and
formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial
performances and discusses the annual and interim results, as well as
discusses and decides on other significant matters.

AN\ e ey
ERERRE

ExE ()
EREEZSE (@

REITHBRER  RREEZESCEAR
ARHENER A RBTRASKELE
EER -

RREERZRE@BFHRIBITMAGHE - N
(Ve BEsEE : R()FERKENTMER
RECBERR UM ASENREREBER
MARRNGREAREERBRAESSRMN
BH -

REZeEHeRNE EFgmmielE
AEBEEBRE  ERMBRANTHF
ERFPHES  UWRimMREEMEAS
E o

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 481X IREMAR AR 67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRER/RE

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Attendance records at meeting

The attendance of each Director at the general meeting (included
annual general meeting), the Board meetings and the meetings of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee held during the year
are set out below:
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Eggmika

ﬁ BREQERIHFEERNT

No. of meetings attended/held

HE/BIEERY
General Audit Remuneration
Meeting Board  Committee Committee
BRRAE EIE ENXZES FMzEe
Number of meetings 1 12 & 2
SERY
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 1/1 12/12 - -
R=EHX4E
Mr. Tse Michael Nam 11 12/12 - -
LS
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin 11 12/12 3/3 2/2
EjEA=pita
Mr. Tian Hong 11 12/12 3/3 2/2
BE%E
Mr. Shen Weidong 11 12/12 3/3 2/2
MEREE
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Directors’ training and professional development

Every Director knows that they should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for the Directors. Accordingly, during the year, the
Company had made available trainings and development programmes
for the Directors for their participation.

Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective
training record pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.
During the year, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group’s business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.

Directors

=

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
R=Bx4E

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
HEELE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BAFHTES

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

fAZEEE

Mr. Shen Weidong

EREE

Mr. Tian Hong

HRFEE

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that all employees,
including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated for their efforts
and time dedicated to the Company and remuneration offered is
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy
are reviewed on a regular basis. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, training
programs and share option. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The EDs are closely involved in and are directly responsible for
all activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior
management comprises the EDs. Particulars regarding senior
management and other Directors’ remuneration and the five (5)
highest-paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the year
fell within the following bands:

Nil = HK$500,000

HK$500,001 — HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the years, the Company reappointed Elite Partners CPA Limited
as the Auditor in the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 27 May 2022. The Auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2022 was as follows:

Nature of work

THHE

Audit services

BT

Non-audit services

FEBZIRT

70 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

T 500,000 7T

500,001# 7T % 1,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/8 7T
1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000/8 7T
2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 7T 2 3,000,000/ 7T -

R

ARRAZEFEHRREEEREBER (B
EREF)URER/ARANEZE N RE
RS T HEE - MR ZFHMIRIER
TANTSMNETE » I E BT @AR
B BF  KREFHBEE - HMEEEH
BREBHERES  RIRREEERM - 7
AEINBRE  BIEEFHEEMBHEAR
TTRABSHEBEEAS ZHH -

EERSREERHM

HWTEETY2ERERAAEANKBZAE
A EFZERASAEEEREBUNTE
- RELTRAUMEIGATREBBSNR
EIEE N H A E 5 A K FL(5) % & = #r B
BEZFHIBHNERE P ME5

=R EE E H M

FRAXNTERREEEZHFMWMN FUATEH
:

N

| =

BT =

RER RRARER-_E-__FRA-++

HEITZBEFRERRE LEMEERTEE

SHMEBMBR AR AZEA - BEZT

ZZF+Z A=+ —HLEFEZZEMNE
U

Amount

+8

HK$'000

FET

1,899

550



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the Company’s financial statements and that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. It is also the responsibility of the
Directors to ensure the timely publication of the Company’s financial
statements. During the year, the management has provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval including the monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation
of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s
objectives have been prepared and included in the Chairman
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this
report.

The statement of the Auditor on their reporting responsibilities in
respect of the Company’s financial statements is set out on page 90
to 91.

The Directors confirm that, except for the issues as explained under
the basis of presentation section in Note 2 to the consolidate financial
statements, they are not aware of any other material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2022. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a
Director is required to notify designated executive directors in writing
and obtain a written acknowledgement from the designated executive
directors prior to any dealings the securities of the Company.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to paragraph A.3 of Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
the Directors are prohibited from dealing in any securities of the
Company on any day on which its financial results are published and
during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication
date of the annual results (the “Black-out Period”). The Company
has also established written guidelines in staff handbook on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees (the “Staff Handbook”) who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance with the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy with effect
from 29 March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”). The payment of dividend
is subject to the compliance with related laws and regulations,
including the laws of Bermuda, Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”), the Listing Rules, and the financial reporting standards that the
Group has adopted. The Board will continually review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and reserves the right to amend or modify
the Dividend Policy as and when the Board may deem necessary.
There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

The Company intends to create long term value for the Shareholders
through maintaining a balance between dividend distribution,
preserving adequate liquidity and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements and capturing future growth opportunities. When
considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

— the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

= the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of

the Group; and

= any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or
period as:

—_

interim dividend;
2. final dividend;
3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio and the Company’s dividend distribution record in the past, if
any, may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no
way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2022 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(@) the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(b) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2017 Noteholder”) of the convertible loan note issued in
2017 (the “2017 Convertible Loan Note”) with the remaining
outstanding principal amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$312,000,000) in respect of the amount due by the Group
is still in progress and no legally binding agreements have been
entered into the same;
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN
(CONTINUED)

(c) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2020 Noteholders”) of the convertible loan notes issued in
2020 (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes”) with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 in respect of the amount
due by the Group are still in progress and no legally binding
agreements have been entered into the same;

(d) the Group is in the negotiation with the counterparty of other
payables related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries
due by the Group for extending the repayment due dates;

(e) the Group is actively taking measures to increase the profitability
of the Group’s mining and coal operation in order to improve the
operating cash flows and its financial position; and

() the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i)  successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder and the 2020
Noteholders to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations;

(iiiy successfully negotiation with the counterparty of other payables to
extend the repayment due dates;

(iv) successfully increase the profitability of mining and coal operations
in order to improve operating cash flows and financial position;

and

(v) successfully obtain external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the disclaimer of opinion
relating to going concern (the “Audit Qualification”), the Board’s
response to the disclaimer of opinion, and the Company’s action plan
in addressing the Audit Qualification and concurred with the Board’s
view. The Audit Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Audit Qualification and the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and the actions or measures to be implemented
by the Management or the Group. The Audit Committee’s views are
based on a critical review of: —

(i) the Management’s action plan to address the Audit Qualification
(and the assumption of successful and continued implementation);
and

(i) a review of the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2022, and
also discussions between the Audit Committee, the Auditor and
the Management regarding the Audit Qualification.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the Management should
continue its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out
in the action plan below to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and
remove the Audit Qualification.

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

The Non-Controlling Interests

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2021
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, the non-controlling interests has not demanded for immediate
repayment of the outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no
formal documentation, the non-controlling interests had indicated its
willingness for extension.

AN\ e ey
ERERRE

BERZESHFHAKE 2w

BERZESCERENARBERLE TR
RER(EZREER] EFSHITER
BRzZEE  URARARGBEEZRER
ZUTHE  YRAEFEZER - ERZ
EeRERENEZRERRANAKERE
REMBE N AR B ERAK BRI 1T
FAERER—H - ERREGLBERNE
R AN 2 BAgARsT « -

() EEREHHBREREERNTHHE(R
RREBITBTEKYARFEER - &

iy ZRAEBEREE T _—_F+=H
=t+t—HETIORM12EABRZESR
SEAET 2B UWRBEZZES -
ZEMREEEREZRBER 25

A
A ©

BEREESRR EREREBESNEMIA
TTEE BB 2 TE R AR - AR A K
BzRBESBNNERBRZRERR

BBFEEE 21T 8

AREBMEFEATTERE - AEBRTEEX
2R

FERER

ARABHE - —FFEEEARER
MZBRITHAREFZIER - RARSE A
Hi - JEERE R W E BRI EEREER
%o BELEMIEA M SFEBRBRERT
FETEH

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4z <8fEIR&EEBIR AT 75



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRER/RE

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2017 Noteholder

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 April
2022, the Company was in discussions with a potential offeror
(the “Potential Offeror”) and other potential investors (the “Other
Potential Investors”), Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), an executive
director and a substantial shareholder of the Company, and 2017
Noteholder, China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited,
in the outstanding aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000
(equivalent to HK$312,000,000 and the conversion period of which
has expired) for proposed restructuring of the Group which involves,
among other things, (i) subscription of shares by the Potential Offeror;
(i) subscription of shares by the Other Potential Investors; (i) sale of
94,292,961 shares held by China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”) which
is ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang and the Sale Notes
held by China OEPC and Mr. Zhang’s spouse to the Potential Offeror;
(iv) engaging Mr. Zhang to manage the existing coal business of the
Group; (v) settling the debts owing to the 2017 Noteholder under the
2017 Convertible Loan Note; (vi) disposal (the “Disposal”) of certain
subsidiaries relating to operations of the Group in Cambodia to Mr.
Zhang; and (vii) waiver of all the outstanding amounts due from the
Company to China OEPC and Mr. Zhang respectively (after offsetting
the amount payable by Mr. Zhang under the Disposal) (the “Proposed
Restructuring”).

On 17 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from
the 2017 Noteholder demanding redemption by the Company of all of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the Company to the 2017
Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) by repayment of the
whole of the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid
interest accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other
amounts due but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full
to the 2017 Noteholder.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2017 Noteholder (continued)

On 22 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
demanding the Company to pay the amount of US$84,943,738.72
under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.

As at the date of this report, (a) despite receiving the statutory demand
from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder on 22
July 2022, the Company had not repaid the debt within 3 weeks from
the date of service of the statutory demand and the Group has not
received any further notice of the 2017 Noteholder having commenced
legal proceedings against the Company. The Company is still in the
course of negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder on the settlement of
the debt under statutory demand; (b) discussions and negotiations in
respect of the terms of the Proposed Restructuring are still in progress;
and (c) no legally binding agreements have been entered into in relation
to the Proposed Restructuring. The Proposed Restructuring is subject
to further negotiations among the Company, the Potential Offeror,
Mr. Zhang, and other relevant parties. The Company is in the course
of making an application for a waiver from strict compliance with the
theoretical dilution effect restriction under Rule 7.27B of the Listing
Rules to the Stock Exchange. Further announcement(s) will be made by
the Company as and when appropriate or required in accordance with
the Listing Rules and/or the Takeovers Code (as the case may be).

For details, please refer to the relevant announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022, 20
July 2022, 25 July 2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September 2022, 21
October 2022, 21 November 2022, 21 December 2022, 20 January
2023, 20 February 2023 and 21 March 2023.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2020 Noteholders

The Company and the 2020 Noteholders are in the course of
negotiating for an extension of the maturity date of the 2020
Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders of new convertible notes with the subscription monies to
be satisfied by setting off against the amount due by the Company to
the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes. The
2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current intention
to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the Company
to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes
as at the day of this report. For details, please refer to the relevant
announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022.

For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s) will be made
by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements to inform the public and its Shareholder upon entering
into the relevant definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the
2020 Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders.

Other Payables

On 3 November 2022, the Group received a demand letter from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the counterparty of other payables,
demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the default
interest outstanding by the Group. As of the date of this report, the
Group is still negotiating with the other payable on the repayment.

Coal Mining and Coal Operating Business

The Group maintained a steady development that made progress
in the coal mining and coal operating business in 2022. During the
year, the increase in both the selling price of coking coals and coal
production volume reflected the increase in demand for coals in
Shanxi Province. Therefore, the Group expected that cash inflow
would continue to be generated steadily in 2023 to improve the overall
financial position of the Group.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

External Facilities and Fund Raising

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached a number of financial institutions and/
or other investor(s). Up to the date of this announcement, the Group
has not concluded or reached any agreements with those financial
institutions and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to
explore appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend upon
the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows. Assuming
that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid measures, the
Group considers it would address the going concern issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the Directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2023. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending 31
December 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the external auditor of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
risk management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the CEQO. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company
Secretary is subject to the Board approval.

Ms. Chu Ka Ying, joined the Company since 2020. She holds a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and a Master Degree
in Corporate Governance. She has solid experience in company
secretarial field from both listed companies and professional firms in
Hong Kong. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. During the year, she has completed over 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring a
sound and effective internal control system is maintained within
the Company and its subsidiaries so as to safeguard the Group’s
assets and its Shareholders’ investments. The Board established
the Risk Management Committee to conduct annual reviews of the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting
and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

The Risk Management Committee reviewed the need for an internal
audit department and considered it appropriate to adopt an internal
group policy to review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries for the financial
year ended 31 December 2022. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit department, the
Risk Management Committee engaged an independent professional
third party for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Risk Management Committee conducted a review on the
internal control system of the Group on an annual basis and has the
responsibility to maintain an effective internal control system in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests. It covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company. And the
policy had be reviewed annually by the Board to ensure it fulfilled the
statutory requirement.

The Risk Management Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Risk Management Committee will keep review and
monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate.

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

e |dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted for the year 2022, no
significant risk was identified.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework
are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

e |nformation and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed
to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an
inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group, which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

e The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year 2022, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal audit

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal audit
team, which consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such
as Certified Public Accountant), which reports directly to the Risk
Management Committee.

In addition, the Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of
internal control to perform regular review of the internal control system
of the Group and the results were summarized and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for
a better control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and
adopting the recommendations made by the professional advisory
firm.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Risk
Management Committee’s reviews, which include but not limited to
(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the
last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
systems.

The Risk Management Committee, through its reviews and the reviews
made by internal audit function and Audit Committee, concluded that
the risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

Based on the above, the Risk Management Committee is of the view
that the Company has established a proper internal control system
which is effective and adequate. And the Board also considers the
internal control systems of the Company effective and the resources,
qualifications and experience of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, adequate for the period in review.

In year 2022, the Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy
Limited, an independent professional third party, to review the Group’s
internal audit function. The internal audit function is independent
of the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness. An internal audit
plan as-suggested has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted annually and the results are reported to the
Audit Committee afterwards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company’s
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general
meetings for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of
conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement
of the general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with
such procedures.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 27 May 2022 (the “2022 AGM”).
Notice of the last AGM were sent out 21 clear days before the AGM.
All the resolutions proposed at the AGM were approved by the
Shareholders by poll. Details of the poll results are available on the
Company’s website. The Auditor and the Company’s legal advisors
were also available during the AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Auditor’s representative, and the Company’s legal advisors were
available at the 2022 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and the Bye-laws during the financial year 2022. Copy of the latest
version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws has been
posted on the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s
websites.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of general meetings

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a general meeting. Shareholders holding an aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the Company’s paid up capital may send a
written request to the Board to request for the convening of a general
meeting. The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and
the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements of
the Act once a valid requisition is received.

The Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may
properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company: (a) any number of members representing not less
than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of the Company on
the date of the requisition; or (b) not less than 100 members holding
Shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal
must be deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company
would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the
expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements of the Act once valid documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder
should lodge at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F., Central 88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong, the necessary documents as mentioned in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director of the Company” which had already been published in
the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries with the Board at the Company’s
general meetings or at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited

Unit A, 12/F., Central 88,

88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2889 6289

Fax: (852) 2897 9137
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
92 to 216, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had accumulated losses of approximately HK$11,805,738,000
and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets and total
liabilities exceeds its total assets of approximately HK$7,098,587,000
and approximately HK$465,690,000 as at 31 December 2022. As at
the same date, the Group’s total borrowings (including amount due to
a director, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings,
amounts due to related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to
approximately HK$6,582,185,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted bank balances) amounted to approximately
HK$164,269,000 only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

In addition, as at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
borrowings and other payables were overdue for repayment or
contained a repayable on demand clause as below: (a) convertible
loan notes issued in 2017 with the remaining outstanding principal
amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) and the
default interests were matured and overdue for repayment as at 31
December 2022; (b) convertible loan notes issued in 2020 with the
amounts of HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 were matured
and overdue for repayment as at 31 December 2022; (c) amounts
due to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,700,952,000
were outstanding by the Group as at 31 December 2022. Included
in amounts due to non-controlling interests with the amounted of
approximately HK$3,954,932,000 were matured and overdue as at
31 December 2022, while the remaining portion of HK$1,746,020,000
were contained a repayable on demand clause; and (d) other payables
with the carrying amounts of approximately RMB119,709,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$134,792,000) and the default
interests was matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2022.

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, there is no winding up petition against
the Company nor new demand letter received by the Group and the
overdue balances are remain unsettled in relation to the above items.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties

which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

88 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

FTRRERNER (&)
FEFECENZHEIRRARRE

1

o RZEZZF+ZA=+—H0 "
SEETEEREMENREOHEER
RBEEREREEGROT : @R T —+
FEITH T REEA ST A40,000,000E 7T
(8 7312,000,000 70) W AT R B R E
BNEHOMNBR _ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
BEHENAHER R T -TFEETH
R ERER - BIEAR£ 380,000,000
PEITLH) A AR B SRR R AN € 58 15,000,000
B BREEREERN T - —F+_A
—+t—HEEHRERAER  oRZE==
F+-—A=+—8  EB&£ENKEENE
- B4 P 25 R TE 495,700,952,0008 T &
FRFE {5 FE 1 IR R 25 3R T8 493,954,932,0007%8
TR E-_—F#+-_A=+—HB3HLEA
R - MR T 365 1,746,020,0005 T
BIREREBOEN  ROEMEHARE
119,709,0007T (#H& 7 49134,792,0007% 7T.)
MEMENHRERENFNER-_ZE=_-_F+
A=+ HERHRaHES -

i

BERAMBHRREML ERKET
B BEXFYEREETAGHELXEEN
AREFRIAENRL - MR ARE

FRIBARAGTEEATEERE - HAlse
4 AERENREKEREIERERER -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

The directors have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position so as to be able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the eventual successful outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including whether: (a) the Group can successfully to negotiate with
the convertible loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due
dates; (b) the Group can successfully to negotiate with non-controlling
interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment
due dates; (c) the Group can successfully to negotiate with other
payables related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries due
by the Group for extending the repayment due dates; (d) the Group
can successfully take active measure to increase the profitability of
the Group’s mining operation and coal operation in order to improve
operating cash flows and its financial position; and (e) the Group
can successfully to obtain the external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future cash
flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required may have
consequential significant effects on the consolidated net liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 and the consolidated profit and
total comprehensive income and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and the related elements and disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

LERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—EC-_F —E-—%F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHEIT
Revenue A 8 2,305,799 1,612,858
Cost of sales SHE AR (1,537,826) (1,265,085)
Gross profit EF 767,973 347,773
Other operating income Hihag ez 8 7,944 7,655
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEA (2,597) (2,957)
Administrative and other operating THRHEAMEEER
expenses (429,725) (387,582)
Reversal of impairment loss PR TER 2 B EEE
recognised in respect of 2l
mining rights 17 812,445 959,527
Reversal of impairment loss MU - BEREEERZ
recognised in respect of property, EE B
plant and equipment 16 322,063 299,034
(Impairment losses)/reversal of RIETEHREEBEER
impairment losses recognised in NeMEERRZ
respect of financial assets under CR{EER),REEE
expected credit loss model, net of BE - MREE
reversal (5,866) 4,832
Finance costs BhE A AR 9 (896,523) (229,315)
Profit before taxation BRBE A 28 A 10 575,714 998,967
Income tax expense PSR 11 (228,020) (247,460)
Profit for the year FEEF 347,694 751,507
(Loss)/profit for the year UTFATEEFE
attributable to: (B8, #F
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZ =N (229,533) 265,672
Non-controlling interests FEVER R 577,227 485,835
347,694 751,507
(Loss)/earnings per share Bk (EBR) ER GE)
(HK cents)
Basic - PIN 13 (44) 50
Diluted i3 (44) 13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERERREMEEHKER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —T_—%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Profit for the year FEER 347,694 751,507
Other comprehensive Hib2mE (B X)W :
(expense)/income:
Items that may be subsequently HEAEH HIEEEm 2 HE
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE =% (51,300) 7,042
Reclassification adjustments for FREINER T
foreign operations deregistration BB
during the year 144 -
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEH b2 H (BiR),
for the year (51,156) 7,042
Total comprehensive income FEXHNRGZHEE
for the year 296,538 758,549
Total comprehensive (expense)/income LT A+EEEE
for the year attributable to: 2HEFEX),WNESEEE
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZFS N (236,290) 269,843
Non-controlling interests IR 532,828 488,706
296,538 758,549

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #z<8fEIR&EEHBIRAE 93



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE B IR AR

As at 31 December 2022 W=—ZF - —F+—-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - RE LEE 16 2,397,212 2,239,815
Mining rights g 17 5,785,597 5,808,415
Intangible assets mEE 10,814 14,195
Goodwill EES 18 = =
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHEZ - BB REE 2
property, plant and equipment BEffiEe 67,700 13,683
8,261,323 8,076,108
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 123,273 152,223
Trade receivables B 5 e GRIE 20 260,449 77,017
Prepayment, deposits, bills TERFIE - 2e - B
receivables, discounted bills iR RREBHIRER R
receivables and other receivables H b fE U FR I8 20 154,125 168,884
Amounts due from related FEUR B8 B N R FUA
companies 21 5,996 6,169
Restricted bank balances Z IR H|SRITE R 23 2,594 -
Cash and cash equivalents BekREZEEY 23 161,675 146,141
708,112 550,434
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables e AN 24 21,672 38,821
Other payables HoAth FE A FRIE 24 1,353,099 754,867
Amount due to a director Bt —REEHE 22 14,821 14,821
Amounts due to non-controlling FET FEVEAR HE 2R SR IE
interests 25 5,700,952 5,976,141
Other borrowings HEtEE 32 707,921 313,621
Liabilities component of AR EREE Y
convertible loan notes BEEHS 26 = 354,771
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 1,622 5,856
Income tax liabilities FrisfiamE 6,612 66,095
7,806,699 7,524,993
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (7,098,587) (6,974,559)
Total assets less current liabilites EEAERABERE 1,162,736 1,101,549

94 “ANNUAL REPORT 2022 & #



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2022 W=—ZF - —F+-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 Tz FHET
Capital and reserves EAXR#HE
Share capital A& A 27 526 526
Reserves e (2,587,877) (2,351,587)
Capital deficiencies attributable EATEEAEEER
to owners of the Company &5 4t (2,587,351) (2,351,061)
Non-controlling interests e 38 2,121,661 1,685,622
Total capital deficiencies BEAREB AL (465,690) (665,439)
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Provision for restoration, IR1E ~ MB1E MR A
rehabilitation and Ee i
environmental costs 28 84,126 88,859
Amounts due to related companies e RAE R R FUA 21 146,698 144,755
Other payables E b S FRI8 24 184,104 328,487
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 10,171 21,650
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 29 1,203,327 1,183,237
1,628,426 1,766,988
1,162,736 1,101,549

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023 and are signed

on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
R=E%E
Director

EE

REMBBREAR _T_=F=A=1+—HK
EZoltERRENE  YHAUTEERR

FE

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEESER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREE AL
Convertible
Exchange Share  Statutory loan notes Non-
Share Share  Contributed  translation options surplus Other equity Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
T8k
EigS BRE  iEEs LEEr FER

B BEEE  4ARE L BE  DEER  RBER  BRER  ZiER it L i
HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKBOOD  HKSODD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO0  HKSO0D  HKSOmD
Tem T TR TRn  TAm  Tan TR TR TR TR TR TER

(Note) (Note ) (Notefi) (Note ) (Note )
N N = N 1) (H)

Asat 1 January 2021 R-E--F-f-H 105262 8,944,986 - (131,021) 831 138,213 128,349 40054 (11,856,568 (2620904  1,196916  (1423,989)
Proft o theyear EREA = - - - - - - - M MR THISW
Other compreensive income for theyer R Afu 2Bk - - = 417 = S . 2 = 41 2871 7042
Total comprehensive income for the year 2 ENHHE - - - 417 = = = - 6T 200843 488706 7HB540
Capital recuction AR (104,726) - 1472 = = = = = = = = =
Share premium cancelation HERhAR - (3944985 8044986 = = = = = = = = =
Appropriation of maintenance and EEREEELAR

production fund - - - - - 38618 - - (38,618) - - -
Utlisation of maintenance and IRELRIEES

production fund - - - - - (40.557) - - 40567 - - -
Asat 31 December 2021 and RIZI-F

asat 1 January 2022 tZA=+-Rk

“3--5-f-H 526 - 9049712 (126,850) 831 136,274 128,349 49054 (11,5889%7)  (2351061) 1,685,622  (865,439)

(Loss)proft or he year E5(ElE) /& o = = o o S S - (22053 (29533  5TI2T 347694
Other comprehensive expensefortheyear ~ EEE{2 AR - = = (6,757) = = = = = 6757 (@439 (51,15
Total comprehensive (expenselincome for ~ £E 2 (% Mg

the year - - - (6,757) - - - - (229533 (236,200) 532,828 296,538
Appropriaton of maintenance and BEREEESAR

production fund o o o O o 67,465 o o (67,465) o o o
Utlisation of meintenance and IREEREEES

production fund o o © o o (31,163) o @ 31,163 o o o
Expiy of conversion opton of the converble ~ FTE#E HE EHEH

oan notes 2 S S = = = = S 49,054 49,054 S = =
Divdend paid tonon-controling interests 3 RERRERE C C = a - - - - - - (9789 (96,789)
As at 31 December 2022 3

+2Az1-8 5% - oI (133607) B S 1839 - MG573) ST 2121861 (4656%)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Notes:

0

(i)

(i)

()

Contributed surplus represents the reduction of the Company’s issued
share capital upon cancellation of paid up share capital, and the deemed
contribution from equity holder which has arisen from the waiver of
promissory notes in previous years and contribution from a shareholder in
current year.

Exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to
the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$") and are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share options reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to
be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over
the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised in administrative and other operating
expenses with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve.

Statutory surplus reserve consists of (i) subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) have appropriated 10% of the profit to the
statutory surplus reserve which is required to be retained in the accounts of
the subsidiaries for specific purposes and (i) pursuant to the relevant PRC
regulations, the Group is required to transfer maintenance and production
funds at fixed rates based on relevant bases to statutory surplus reserve
from accumulated losses. The maintenance and production funds can be
utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance
and safety measured are incurred. The amount of maintenance and
production funds utilised would be transferred from the statutory surplus
reserve to accumulated losses.

Convertible loan notes issued are split into their liabilities and equity
components at initial recognition by recognising the liability component
at its fair value which is determined using a market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debts and attributing to the equity component
the difference between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the
liability component. The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
loan notes equity reserve until convertible loan notes are either converted (in
which case it is transferred to share premium) or the convertible loan notes
are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to accumulated losses).

Witk :

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

BABRBRIEARF S BITRA RSB A
EEMRA 2SR BaRBEARBEFE
HReARLREMBEIENSBRURKNEE
KEBRRZEE -

FERIMEEBERAEEEIEBCEEF
EHREDREERRESREE 25/ EH D
BR(ETD)BHEZELZRE  YHENE
2R ERR RN E L REREERET - %
EREAMEFRBRACELZENLES
SNEBR B ORERLS ©

B REENEREE AR L AREER
HELASAER i 5T CEUIR S 2 X P 1B - H AR
TRBEEEERNRHARZ AFERE - &
HEzeBHEBSEREZ AFEREH
FEH(NA)NEOETE  WRTTB R EM
LR P RER  MBRERETSERE
o e

EERBAERERE)TEARLME(H
BB 2R 10% 28 M EEE RSB A
ERE BRTCARRENMBARRAE
FrE Mz RiRETBEMERRY - AEEA
BRAEEENEELL R R BRERS
EREERSSETRRGEE - BEREE
ESTRELEERERREHER A
BEAXHESHA - CHABEREERESS
HUETE B FEERE R5TEE -

ERTAIRBREREERVTERED LA
EREDED  WERBRATEERAR
Bo(RABEUATBRBRER TN RE
B UHBETRESFREEBEROAFEZ
Mz ZRE AR D - AEHY HRIEE
HRARTIER - E DR AT MR E KRR IZE
mFERER  BEURRERRREER(E
IR T E B =R 5 E) kAT R B R EE
BED (LB TERBRERAER) -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GeaREREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—=E-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEEH
Profit before taxation R A5 A& A 575,714 998,967
Adjustments for: PR EELFE
Depreciation of property, Y BEREETE
plant and equipment 192,666 188,558
Amortisation of mining rights PRUE R 65 333,781 264,491
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE#E 2,038 2,244
Finance costs B KA 896,523 229,315
Reversal of impairment loss PLERIERETER 2
recognised in respect of NERIEY =t El
mining rights (812,445) (959,527)
Reversal of impairment loss mIE - WER
recognised in respect of HIEER
property, plant and BB E B D
equipment (322,063) (299,034)
Recovery of other receivables Uiz [B] L th i s 5R08 (272) =
Written off of prepayment S8 TR SR IE 6,573 6,572
Impairment losses/(reversal of RIETEHREEBEER
impairment losses) recognised in NEeMEEBRZBE
respect of financial assets under B8 CREEEEnmE)
expected credit loss model, net of R
reversal 5,866 (4,832)
Bank interest income RITH BUA (281) (206)
(Gain)/loss on deregistration of M BAR (W), EE
subsidiaries (3,594) 5
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE - BMERE#ELZ
plant and equipment BB () 17,009 (886)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W (624) (106)
Gain on termination of leases It E 2 W& - (4,706)
Write-down of inventories FEMOR - 807
Operating cash flows before KRt EEESEBHHA
movements in working capital RERESRE 890,891 421,662
Change in inventories FEE 18,969 (141,941)
Change in trade and B 5 N HE b e GRIE
other receivables & (214,336) (27,114)
Change in amounts due from FEWWEEFIEEH)
directors - 235
Change in amounts due Ul EEE QR IR
from related companies (312) -
Change in trade and B 5 R E M RIE
other payables b= (159,839) 47,115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cash generated from operations REMEBERS 535,373 299,957
Income tax paid EATATEH (167,303) (10,292)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHABRETHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 368,070 289,665
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEYIZE -~ R KRR
equipment (207,055) (182,172)
Deposit paid for acquisition for property, WiEME - BB REE
plant and equipment Bfi&e (59,498) (5,789)
Interest received B UH B 281 206
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWBARRES L FE
subsidiaries - 3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BER&HE
plant and equipment Fr5 308 7 887
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEFARSFE
ACTIVITIES (266,265) (186,871)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Advance from a director KE—REEHAK - 1,713
Advance from related companies K ERE N R B 11,150 16,065
Proceed from bank advances on R EREKELIREIR 2 IRITEIK
discounted bills receivables Z T8 5IR = 6,032
Repayment of bank advances on FEUGBLIR i~ SR T EA BN IB B
discounted bills receivables (5,710) -
Repayment to non-controlling interests MR EH B R (7,867) =
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests M eI R i R R B AR B (96,789) =
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (15,411) (29,761)
Interest paid BEARFE (5,451) (1,316)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEEEFTARESERE
ACTIVITIES (120,078) (7,267)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE RERASEBEWOED) HEM
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R (18,273) 95,527
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BERAZRERASTE
AT THE BEGINNING OF EY
THE REPORTING PERIOD 146,141 48,097
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE MEEEBEIHE
RATE CHANGES 36,401 2,517
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BERRZRERREE
AT THE END OF EY
THE REPORTING PERIOD 164,269 146,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries, (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is Unit A, 12/F., Central
88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding
and provision of finance and treasury services to the Group. The
Group was principally engaged in (i) the development of cassava
cultivation and deep processing business for the related ecological
cycle industry chain; (ii) coal exploration and development, sales of
coking coal and other coal products and provision of coal related
services; and (iii) the sales of information technology products
and provision of system integration services, technology services,
software development and solution services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of HK$ (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated, which is also
the functional currency of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

2.

RAGEM BRI 2EEE)

BIEREER  SEPBHRERUATET
(TETDREMZY  BRXHA/EALR
BlZINEEEH -

RAEBBRER IR REHRIZELKA
AR -

JE 2 AR — AR IR A E SR E am e IR 75
IR EBZAFESE -

RFHER/THLEERFERREAF
RphE—HEEMS WK EE — ]
BEMEXANER  THZERIE
AERBRAERARMBEET AR -
REFFEEXRENRTFER - A&HE
SERMS2EERTEANHEES
BETERMEEMNEERRENE
B EREHEEUBHRERPABR K
BROQTFEGEI RN ETIAREE -
HEBEW B MEERE2RK G XA
BANRNZNRS - REFEMHR
FEANFIGSRARNEERZUARER
FEELESLFAFENFEDIW - &
BB ENFERFETNA R FE
BB G ERIFEICHEEE R E T AE
FREBE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 2. RAFEMBBRREE(E)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e | evel 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern basis

The Group had accumulated losses of approximately
HK$11,805,738,000 (2021: approximately HK$11,588,957,000)
and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
and total liabilities exceeds its total assets of approximately
HK$7,098,587,000 (2021: HK$6,974,559,000) and approximately
HK$465,690,000 (2021: approximately HK$665,439,000) as
at 31 December 2022. As at the same date, the Group’s total
borrowings (including amount due to a director, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, other borrowings, liabilities component of
convertible loan notes as at 31 December 2021, amounts due to
related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to approximately
HK$6,582,185,000 (2021: approximately HK$6,831,615,000),
while its cash and cash equivalents (including restricted bank
balances) amounted to approximately HK$164,269,000 (2021:
approximately HK$146,141,000) only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. RAGSHBHRRZEE(H)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
have given in consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the condition described above. Certain of the Group’s
payables were overdue and are explained below:

@)

convertible loan note issued in 2017 (the “2017 Convertible
Loan Note”) with the remaining outstanding principal amount
of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) was
matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2022 and 2021. On 22 July 2022, the Company received
a statutory demand from the legal advisers acting on
behalf of the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan Note, China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (the “2017
Noteholder”), demanding the Company to repay the principal
amount and the default interest outstanding by the Company;

convertible loan notes issued in 2020 (the “2020 Convertible
Loan Notes”) with the amounts of HK$380,000,000 (the “2020
Convertible Loan Note A”) and HK$15,000,000 (the “2020
Convertible Loan Note B”) were matured and overdue for
repayment as at 31 December 2022;

amounts due to non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$5,700,952,000 (2021: approximately HK$5,976,141,000)
as at 31 December 2022 were outstanding by the Group.
Included in amounts due to non-controlling interests with
the amounted of approximately HK$3,954,932,000 (2021:
approximately HK$4,303,359,000) were matured and overdue
for repayment and remains unsettled as at 31 December
2022 and 2021, while the remaining portion of approximately
HK$1,746,020,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,672,782,000)
were contained a repayable on demand clause; and

£

BEEEER

MR T

REEEAMBEHRRE  EFEERAN
SERRITENE - REEETREMK
HE B ERMAT

(@)

RZE - FBETHAIRBRERE
BIZZE—tFaBREREE])
# T A {818 A £ % A40,000,0003%
7T (#8E 312,000,000/ 7T) * R=ZF
ZZFERZFE—F+ZA=1+—
HERHSRaEBESE RN T =
FEAZ+ =B AQAEERR
—E—+tFBRREREEEAA
PR ERRP () REIERER
AR ZE—EFEBHFEFADT
EMEEBEMBLNEEERER
£ ERAQAEERSBEREAA
R RBELOFE

RIE_EFHETHNABRBRER
ZER([ZE-_ZTFAHERERE
1) B A4 %8 4380,000,0005
TR BEBRERER(AE-Z =
TFEAMBERER)RACEA
15,000,000 LW Al A I B R
BE(BE-_Z-_ZFuHBRERE
Bl MER-_BE-_—_F+=-A=
+—HEIBRAHERS

RZE-_—_F+=—A=+—8
REBNAREENEMNIETRE
HRIEH A5,700,952,000/8 7T
—T - —4F : 45,976,141,000
BIL) o B FEIEIRE R RIEL
3,954,932,000/8 (=T = — 4 :
#94,303,359,0007% 7T) B 5 8 ) 780
HER mMR_ZE_—_FR_FT—
—F+-_A=1+—BIEALEE £
TEB #91,746,020,0008 T (=&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 2. RAFEMBBRREE(E)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

(d) other payables related to consideration for acquisition of
subsidiaries with the carrying amounts of approximately
RMB119,709,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$134,792,000) was matured and overdue for repayment
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. On 3 November 2022,
the Group received a demand letter from the legal advisers
acting on behalf of the counterparty of other payables,
demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the
default interest outstanding by the Group.

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, there is no winding up petition
against the Company nor new demand letter received by the
Group and the overdue balances are remain unsettled in relation
to the above items (a) to (d).

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient funds to
fulfill its financial obligations to continue as a going concern. The
Group has taken the following measures to improve the Group’s
financial position and alleviate its liquidity pressure, including, but
not limited to, the following:

(@) the Group can successfully to negotiate with the convertible
loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due dates;

(b) the Group can successfully to negotiate with non-controlling
interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates;

(c) the Group can successfully to negotiate with other payables
related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries due by
the Group for extending the repayment due dates;

(d) the Group can successfully take active measure to increase
the profitability of the Group’s mining operation and coal
operation in order to improve operating cash flows and its
financial position; and

(e) the Group can successfully to obtain the external facilities
and/or fund raising opportunities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as
to whether management will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern would depend upon (a) the Group
can successfully to negotiate with the convertible loan notes
holders’ for extending the repayment due dates; (b) the Group can
successfully to negotiate with non-controlling interests of amounts
due by the Group for extending the repayment due dates; (c)
the Group can successfully to negotiate with other payables
related to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries due by the
Group for extending the repayment due dates; (d) the Group can
successfully take active measure to increase the profitability of the
Group’s mining operation and coal operation in order to improve
operating cash flows and its financial position; and (e) the Group
can successfully to obtain the external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. EREBUMBHREERES

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFERFERZEBHBERE
effective for the current year R 2 187]
In the current year, the Group has applied the following RAFE  AEEEHERGE PR
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, KERERAUTHESSFMASRAR
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning TE I CF-A—HRZEABRCEE
on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial HAR S A 2 BB B EER 2 &
statements: HIE
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BT HMEEDN BWoER 2R
Framework FEIWH2IER]
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions ERGHHELER  COVID-19 -
beyond 30 June 2021 F1698 2 185] T —F
NA=Z+TH%Z
HEEEEESR
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment— EHEEHER] Yz - BB LR
Proceeds before Intended Use F16 2 18R] - BERZATH
FT8 5k 1E
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling BB QR EEE4 - BT
a Contract EI7HR 2 EFT BRI Z AR
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs EAYTBMEER BHEMEHREER]
2018-2020 Z1EET —E-N\FZE
Sl S d
FEME
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year MAFERRBEBMGREEANSEITY
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance REBRAFERBAFE 2 HBERE
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the MR K,/ 2SRV BEREMEKZ
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. BRIEEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. EREEBMBERELERIET (E)

(CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet CHEGEMRERZTHITEBTE
effective EHEERI R HAZET

AREB I ARRATEA TS EME R R
ERREFNR] RRERI 2 B R MBI EE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective: Al
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts' BB SR REE L)
October 2020 and February EAVE GRS
2022 Amendments to HKFRS —ETETRAR
17) e S S~ b4
BB TSRS LR
FATBRZIERT)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets BB EHREER WEHEERE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10R R BB LR RAEIHAERF
Associate or Joint Venture? ERIE 285 2 187] ZHHNEELE
HIA2
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BB EHREER E(ARMAEE
Leaseback® F165 2 18R] A&
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as B e ERIE1R BEAEAREK
Current or Non-current and ZIEET FEREBAREE
related amendments to Hong REZSR
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)' (Z2=2H)2
BREERT
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with ER e ERE 1R MR RIS
Covenants? ZIEET A&
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting ERCTEREIRRE SHEREE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies’ BB EER
BISERESR 2
&3]
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EREHEANES Ry EFEFTIER

Amendments to HKAS 12

Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

BRGHRERIFE125 2

fE7]

fE7]

BE-RFGELZ
BENRAENARA
ZIRERIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3.

(CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effectlve (continued)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and

FE R & 7B B B 3R 5 22 RIS FT ()

EEMEMKRERZHETEBIK
EHERI R HEET (&)

' B ZF A ASKHERBZF
FEHAR AR AR o

2 REFETzBEHSEERKZFES
HEZIE

s BT -MF—A—HBREEMHRZTF
EEARAERK -

BN ERAMAFIEEVBHRE

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the R R EAE nTE’\—HﬁiH—rX$ HixE
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. VB RMRERTMEATE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESFHBER

Basis of consolidation meE%E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between () the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and (i) the carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On-disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)
(CONTINUED)
Leases HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account for
the lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to the directors and other
employees of the Group and others providing similar services are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings, mining structure, plants and machineries in the course
of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than construction in progress) less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Mining structure 10%

Leasehold improvements 33'/3% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33"/:%

office equipment

Motor vehicles 33'/5%
Plants and machineries 10%
Buildings 10% or over the lease terms

whichever is shorter
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of the exchange
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for mining rights is recognised on the units of
production method based on the total proven and probable
reserves of the mine.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIAE)
Financial assets THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, refundable deposits, bills receivables, discounted
bills receivables, other receivables (exclude other tax
receivables), amounts due from related companies, amounts
due from directors, restricted bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE —
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instruments as at the end
of the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instruments as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or

effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instruments’ external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(exclude contract liabilities, accrued staff costs and other tax
payables), bank advances on discounted bills receivables, amount
due to a director, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings, amounts due to related companies and liabilities
component of convertible loan notes) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised
and included in equity and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible loan notes, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SRTAE
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERE (B)
Convertible loan notes (continued) AJ IR B 218 ()

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument are
modified, such as extending the tenure, change in exercise price
of the underlying options, the revised terms would result in a
substantial modification from the original terms, after taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances. Accordingly, such
modification is accounted for as derecognition of the original
financial liability and the recognition of new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of financial liability
derecognised and the fair value of consideration paid or payable,
including any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless
the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank
balances are disclosed in note 23.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average
method or first-in-first out method as appropriate. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights with finite useful lives other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights with finite useful lives other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

132 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

BiE
Fri8fiM 5 R R R B EE TR 8
ZHRRFN o

BRENRARFERABGENTEH
JE AR T 4 | R EL L F 2 2 R R AR =k T 4
B2 WA B S H Ko £ 2B AR A 3 T AT A AR
ZBEBARRIRHEEN] - NEEZ
B A A ERREIRCEANEE
Bz HEGTH -

BEBIBREGUWHEHRETEERAE
2 BRTEE B 5T 5 B R A 4 I B AR FE B
B EREERER - TERARRE R
&%%L% RELETIEAE - FTA
AMBEREEERATSBRIRLERIE
ﬁ%vﬁ@MT% G A ERBE R A
HEAAHNRETREEZRAR - ME X
BR(EBEHBINRZEERBEE
OB EEE N EERB A T
TEERFSTEESTRN - A TEHER
EHRECERBEENREE o I WE
RUEEDEe XERAEEmMEL - I
TEeERELEREAE -

ELEBIA A BERIREN B AR 2 ERK
R IEERRMER - AN E A ZHE
FIEZRmEE - AEREEZEAATER
BRI BAS R B 2 BRI - RZ %
REMBEZ THRE R ER BTN
HEE - EUAR LA R RT & M A
HBAEREER NG - BEFRA
RS SR AT AR Bl R R RR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grant are presented under
“other operating income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)
(CONTINUED)
Provisions B

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental expenses are based on estimates of required
expenditure to restore the sites of Group’s mines in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its
liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate for new circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses continually
the development of contingent assets. If it has become virtually
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group
recognises the asset and the related income in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHEX(E)

(CONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities and assets (continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Related party (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(viy The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 5. BARE:tHE AT FEEM 2

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation, the directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the basis
as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Control over subsidiaries

The Group owns 49% equity interest in LI 78 5 72 48 85 &= E 42 R 3%
B R AR AR (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing
Group Energy Investment Development Company Limited®)
(“Shanxi Coal”) and its subsidiaries (including a subsidiary in which
Shanxi Coal own 34% equity interest in LI P& R EIHEE B XE
E M ¥EGR A7 (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing
Group Gujiao Fuchang Coal Industry Company Limited*
(“Fuchang”) (collectively referred to as “Shanxi Coal Group”)). The
Group’s ownership interest in Shanxi Coal Group gives the Group
the same percentage of the voting rights in Shanxi Coal Group.
The Group’s equity interest in Shanxi Coal Group was acquired on
7 June 2013 and there has been no change in the Group’s
ownership in Shanxi Coal since then. The remaining 51% of the
registered capital of Shanxi Coal is owned by two equity interest
holders, who holds 41% and 10% respectively, belonging to a
same-group of companies. The directors made an assessment as
at the date of completion of acquisition as to whether or not the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal Group based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
Shanxi Coal Group unilaterally.

*_ For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s accounting

policies (continued)

Control over subsidiaries (continued)

The directors concluded that it has had control over Shanxi Coal
since the completion of acquisition on 7 June 2013 on the basis
that under the memorandum and articles of association of Shanxi
Coal (as amended on 21 December 2009), the Group is able
to appoint five directors out of nine on the board of directors of
Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned subsidiaries and a resolution
to be passed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal requires
a simple majority. Upon Shanxi Coal being effectively acquired
by the Group on 7 June 2013, the Group is able to control the
decision making of the board of directors of Shanxi Coal through
its wholly owned subsidiaries.

In addition, all of Shanxi Coal’s shareholders agreed that they
will approve the plans and proposals, including operating
and investment plan, financial budgeting, profit appropriation,
extraction of discretionary reserve and the issuance of bonds,
proposed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interests
to direct the relevant activities of Shanxi Coal, and accordingly the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account their estimated
residual values. The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such a difference may impact
the depreciation and amortised in the year and the estimate will be
changed in the future period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. ARSTHERMESTTIREMZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERR(E)
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of non financial assets other than
goodwill

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining
rights are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation or
accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of CGUs, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

Notwithstanding that the Group has used all available information
to make this estimation, inherent uncertainty exists and actual
write-offs may be higher or lower than the amount estimated.

Details of the impairment of are disclosed in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at amortised
cost

Trade receivables with significant balances or credit-impaired
and all other financial assets which measured at amortised
cost are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group
uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on aging of trade receivables as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently
imprecise and represent only approximate amounts because of
the subjective judgments involved in developing such information.
There are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated mine reserves can
be designated as “proven” and “probable”. Proven and probable
mine reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have
taken into account recent production and technical information
of each mine. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proven and probable mine reserves also changes. This change is
considered as a change in estimate for accounting purposes and
is reflected on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates
and impairment of mining rights.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates,
these estimates are used in determining depreciation expenses
and impairment losses. The capitalised cost of mining rights is
amortised over the estimated unit of production. The estimated
unit of production are reviewed annually in accordance with the
production plans of the Group and the proven and probable
reserves of the mines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. ARSTHERMESTTIREMZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERR(E)
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmental costs

The provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
costs has been determined by the management of the Group
based on their best estimates. The management of the Group
estimated this liability for final reclamation and mine closure based
upon detailed forecast of the amounts and timing of future cash
flows for a third party to perform work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability, such that the provision reflects the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
However, the estimate of the associated expenditures may be
subject to change due to new government environmental policy
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that it
properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from
the mining activities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which
included bank advances on discounted bills receivables, liabilities
component of convertible loan notes, amount due to a director,
amounts due to related companies, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, other borrowings and lease liabilities, net
of restricted bank balances and cash and cash equivalents)
and capital deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company.
The directors review the capital structure monthly. As a part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues and repurchase
of existing shares as well as issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information reported
to the directors (being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”)) for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment are as follows:

Cassava starch -
operation
Mining operation -

Provision of cultivation and processing of
cassava starch for sale

Geological survey, exploration and
development of coal deposits, and
sales of coking coal

Coal processing, sales of coal products
and provision of coal related services

Coal operation -

Systems integration —
services and
software solutions

Sales of information technology
products, provision of systems
integration services, technology
services, software development and
solution services

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services. The management
of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units
separately for the purposes of making decisions on resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss which in certain
respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently
from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

7.

7 EER

RIS BE IR R T4 R IR W E (B
EEERRE(EBEERRED)2

B2EH  AEBZEESHMOT :

RERWMER - REBERRZRH
DT LAYESE &

BT - ERERE 2 E
7T - B MR
Kol R

IR - HERNI - ERER
SHE MR E X
FRARABR %

AEENKRY - BARHEEREE -

AL R R 5 £ KR

S % FAITRES - 8
R MR A R
AR 7%

RHEERE  AEERBHE®RNMRE
N R/RTRAEKEN AEEEEEY
HEBBEM 2 REXEETEES
REZERSERRBF G LR
e DEPRBRBL L EH K E R
i BT RAMA - ERETIELZ
STETABRINGRE B R ZEE R T
KEE ©
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. /Xﬁlgﬁ*#(nﬁ)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERDERBERSHEDEEIRM
allocating resources between segments, the CODM also reviews B ¢ E‘fﬂ«%&%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁtﬂ #HeE
other segment information. ¥} o
Segment revenue and results PEBAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by LATESIZ ] 23D 2T 2 NEE UK
reportable segments. AREE -
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZESREBHR
BEBARR Y £ Rk RERBER @it
2022 2001 2022 2001 2022 2001 2022 202 2022 2021
ZRICE CEC-F CZBICE CRC-F CRCCF DO -F CBCCE RO -F ZBCIE R
HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$'000
Tén TEx Tz TEx TR TEz  TER  TEn  TER TEn
For the year ended BEt-B=1-A
31 December LEE
REVENUE WA
Sales to external customers  WSNIEFAEL 2 E = - 2144805 1506931 160,094 105927 = - 2,305,799 1,612,858
RESULTS 4
Segment (loss)/prof AH(ER)/ & (357)  (243) 1454352 1235879  B1571 14926  (6866)  (3,806) 1,478,700 1,246,756
Unallocated income AOBMA 4728 734
Unallocated expenses AARXH (11,189)  (19,208)
Finance costs BARA (896,525)  (229,315)
Profit before taxation B ATAT 575,714 998,967
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit/(loss)
represents the profit/(loss) from each segment without allocation
of central administrative expenses, including directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments, certain other income, certain other
operating expenses and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

For the purpose of assessment by the CODM, finance costs of
amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings and
advances drawn on discounted bills and leases liabilities were not
included in segment results while the corresponding liabilities have
been included in the segment liabilities.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments.

7.

7 BRE R ()

i L ONES {C )
2HRABL G PRARED 2 &5t
BEAAR - HEEF, (BB)IEEHE
EEZHERM/ (B8 - MRS RS R
THAY  SREERITRARME -
EFHMBA B THMELEARR
ARA - WD ERDERRRTER
TELEERREREZAERA

REBRERKELTHENS @ BN
R ERR - HEE RIEHALR
SEBFFEERBEZBEKARLR
FFADEEE  MEEREEBESFADH
A&

TMEERER
AT RBEAIZBABAMZAREEE
REIE -

Segment assets DEEE
2022 2021
—E-C—F =4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET

Systems integration services and RS ARTS R B

software solutions fRR 2R 2,322 2,347
Mining operation IR TS 8,896,218 8,556,524
Coal operation Bk EES 66,333 55,286
Cassava starch operation INE D FETE 1,872 8,664
Total segment assets DEEERE 8,966,745 8,622,821
Unallocated corporate assets AOBEEEE 2,690 3,721
Consolidated total assets FaBERE 8,969,435 8,626,542
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

N

7 #RE # ()

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) THEERAEE
Segment liabilities HEE
2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Systems integration services and RS ARTE R B
software solutions BRR TR 4,420 4,551
Mining operation ERIBETS 8,046,801 7,278,511
Coal operation R ETE 33,162 43,827
Cassava starch operation REBRWMED 3,108 3,323
Total segment liabilities DEPEEEER 8,087,491 7,330,212
Unallocated corporate liabilities Aot ¥aE 1,347,634 1,961,769
Consolidated total liabilities meBERE 9,435,125 9,291,981

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain prepayment,
deposits and other receivables and certain cash and cash
equivalents and assets jointly used by reportable segments.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain other payables, certain amounts due to related
companies, amount due to a director, other borrowings,
liabilities component of convertible loan notes, deferred tax
liabilities and liabilities jointly liable by reportable segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

~. N A
SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEBER (&)
Other segment information Hih 7 HE R
Systems integration
services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Cassava starch operation Unallocated Consolidated
AERARER
BHBRNE RREH REH RERBER i) &8
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
“B--f -F--F% CZB--F -F--% C-B--f -F--5 CZ®-CEF -F--% CZECCE -E-o-5 ZECCE CE--F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T#r i T#n T#n F#n Thn TET Fhn AR Fin T4 i
For the year ended #Et-R=t-A
31 December LEE
Amounts included in the REvEIL e
measure of segment (oss)foroft A EEERH R
or segment assets: WTHE :
Depreciation of property, plant % BERRE
and equipment it - - 191,538 184,921 - - 165 776 963 2,861 192,666 188,658
Amortisation of mining rights RRERY o - 333,781 264,491 ° = o = o = 333,781 264,491
Amortisation of infangble assets B EEREH o - 2,038 2,044 © o o o o o 2,038 2,044
Addifions tonon-current assets  REFFRHEE = - 217,339 250,987 = = = = 12 1894 277,354 254,881
Loss/{gain) on disposal of LENE BER
propery, plant and equipment ¥ B8/ () = = 16,960 = = = 49 (886) = - 17,009 (8%6)
Reversal of mpaiment loss HERIERD L
recognised i respect of HESERE
mining rights O - (812,445) (959,527) 0 - 0 - o - (812,445) (959,527
Reversal of impaiment loss i#%  BEREE
recognised in respect of B nBERRE
property, plant and equipment o - (322,063) (299,034 0 - 0 - o - (322,063) (299,034)
Impaiment loss/[reversal of REESEEHREL
impaimentlosses) recognised  EEBAEET LS
in respect of financial assets EEE/ (IEsER
under expected credit loss B) fBEE
model, net of reversal - 128 5,866 (5,298) - - - 338 - - 5,866 (4,832
Wtten offof prepayment HERBHNE o - © - - - 6,573 6,572 o o 6,573 6,572
Wiite-down of inventories HER - - = - o - o 807 = = S 807
Amounts regularly provided to EERETEELE
(CODM but not included in RRERLEHA
the measure of Segment HEAB(ER)/ &
(loss)/proft: 2R
Interest income LELON = (1) (264) (198) (17 m = - = - (281) (206)
Finance costs BERK o - ° = o = o = 896,523 29315 896,523 229315
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. ZEHERE)
Other segment information (continued) Hfth 5 I & k(&)
Geographical information HhEER
Since all of the Group’s revenue were derived in PRC and over HARAEEEISRSEREFRE - BASE
90% of the Group's non-current assets (excluded financial E BB IERBEE(TRIEEHT
instruments) were located in PRC, no geographical segment B E - I ERIEE S B WRE
information in accordance with HKFRS 8 is presented. ERIESHRETHE D HPERL
Information about major customers ERXEREF2ER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing HAREEEBEFEEEE10%HIA L2
10% or more of the total sales of the Group are as follows: BEZBALT
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Customer A' BEPA - 488,017
Customer B' (Note) BB (f:t) N/ATER 521,706
Customer C' EPC 338,685 387,913
Customer D' (Note) BED (A1) 1,686,233 N/ATiE
' Revenue from mining operation. T ORBEEB KA o
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contributed over 10% or more to Miat - REFE @ BIEAREBETR10%k
the Group for respective year. A EZHEEBATR -
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or Br EXPRIBEES - RexmEFE - #
more to the Group’s revenue for both years. BHMEF SAEEHR10%KIMA LK
ANEREf -
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME

i)

8. WARHEMEE W=

Revenue from goods and Services i) ERRBRBFEWA
Disaggregation of revenue DHFUA
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZRRARER
Segments por: | BERRFR Y e RiER RERDER st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
CECCE -4 CBCCE “EC-F CBCCE CB--F CECCF CFC-F CEBECCF CE--%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000
Tér ThEr TR TEr TEx  TEr  TéEx TR TER  TEn
Types of goods or senvices @I AREER
Sales of goods HEER
- Raw coals -RE - - 1,751,474 - - - - - 1,751,474 -
= Clean coals - - - 308686 1452892 147546 105,927 - - 486232 1,558,819
~Other coal products -EpERER o - BG5S 54030 n = o - 55016 54039
Codlsenices foeincome IR EHA = - = - 180 - = - 180T =
- - 2144805 1506931 160,994 105927 - - 2,305,799 1,612,858
Tirming of revenue WARZRE
recognition
A point in time B - - 2144805 1506931 147,917 105,927 - - 2,292,722 1,612,858
Over time [ = - = - 18017 = = - 180 =
- - 2144805 1506931 160,994 105927 - - 2,305,799 1,612,858
Notes: et

U

For sales of raw coals, clean coals and other coal products,
revenue is recognised when control of goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been accepted by customers
(acceptance) after goods delivered to the specific location or
picked up by customers. Transportation and handling activities
that occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following acceptance, the customers have
full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. The normal credit term is up to 60 days upon
acceptance.

(i) Coal service fee income is recognised when relevant services

provided to customer including but not limited to consulting
services, technical support and training services. Coal service
fee income was calculated on monthly basis, being the services
provided multiplied to a fixed fee. The normal credit term is up to
15 days upon services billed.

(i) All performance obligations of the Group’s revenue are part of

contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

() BEERK BREEMEKE®R
& NE RS &S R (B
(EmXNEFEHERTFPRESR
mik) TP EXE MG Y)) B R
WA - EEPEGERIEZA#®E
ZERMERITREBERENT
o MBKIE - BRI 2ERER
EHREHAREREE  WHEH
EEmzIREERERBERE
KZER - RBRKE - EREEH
REZ60K °

(i) HERBRBBRARATFEREIEE
RS (BIRETNER ARG - 5l
T4 R B BRTS) BE RERR, o MR AR TS
BEWARATE - BVFIR GRS -
NETEER - —REEHRZAR
HELAREZ151 -

(i) AEBBANAERYOEETBER
BIEAHNBAE-—FHURNZE
#) o MIBBBUBIHEERF 1658
MRE  PERERSZRBETAHZ
RS ERI EIFE
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. WAKRHMRE W (&)
(CONTINUED)
ii) Other operating income Hap e s
2022 2021
—E_C =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank interest income RITFBWA 281 206
Exchange gain ERRE 824 =
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries B A E 2 e 3,594 =
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREHEZ
plant and equipment W e = 886
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBE QR Z WS
(Note 39) (Ht7#39) 624 106
Gain on termination of leases LIEHRE 2 W = 4,706
Government grants (Note) BT B (B 7E) 1,415 540
Sundry income IR 934 1,211
Recovery of other receivables W (5] L A 8 W R IR 272 =
7,944 7,655
Note: Hat -

Government grants mainly represent Covid-19-related subsidies
which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Hong Kong government and subsidies granted by PRC local
government authority as a support. There is no unfulfilled condition or
contingencies relating to such government subsidies recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERAK
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Effective interest expense on AR EREE BB
convertible loan notes (Note 26) MER (Hit26) 40,229 44,712
Interest on other borrowings and HEMEERRERMRER
advances drawn on discounted bills B2 FE 527,533 21,824
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGZFE 1,454 1,948
Interest on other payables EMERRIEZFE 176,290 -
Interest on amounts due to FETIE R R i 2 BUIB 2 FILE
non-controlling interests 218,778 224,623
Total interest expense on financial liabilities I 3EIZ A FEFF AIBR 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRBEN AR B 964,284 293,107
Less: amounts capitalised in construction & : RERETIRBEFTERZ
in progress (Note) SR (HE) (70,296) (66,560)
Imputed interest for provision for K18 ~ IBIERIRIBA AR E 2
restoration, rehabilitation and HERE (K E28)
environmental costs (Note 28) 2,535 2,768
896,523 229,315
Note: Kt -
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2022 REBEZE-ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HILFEHX
arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a BEARCEBERAE —MREEEL  WIKEA
capitalisation rate of 3.45% (2021: 3.14%) per annum to expenditure on REEREERMIMERLFRNEI.45%(=
qualifying assets. T4 3.14%)5tHE
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRBLAE R
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Profit before taxation has been arrived at & AT K 2 3088~
after charging/(crediting): GtA) ¢
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEET N € -
- audit services - RS 1,899 1,910
- non-audit services - ERRBURT 550 516
Amortisation of mining rights (included in  ERAERESE S (GT A SH & BUAR)
cost of sales) 333,781 264,491
Amortisation of intangible assets (included 2 & B 8 (G A SH & Ak 2AN)
in cost of sales) 2,038 2,244
Cost of inventories sold FrHEFEMA 1,200,054 991,215
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment JEEI{ZEEEEN TR
losses) recognised on expected credit BEEE(REBERD)
loss model, net of reversal: MR EEE -
— trade receivables -EHrWEE 5,866 128
~ deposits and other receivables - FR R E b R GRIE = (4,960)
5,866 (4,832)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BE RS ENTE
equipment 192,666 188,558
Other tax expenses HFIERE 144,987 79,858
Write-down of inventories FEMOR = 807
Written off of prepayment WEE TR IR 6,573 6,572
Penalty and fine RE KR AR = 27,676
Relocation and removal expenses B RIFHRER - 12,272
(Gain)/loss on deregistration of subsidiaries = #5 M@ A & (Yzk) /&2 (3,594) 5
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - BE & &RE
and equipment &8 () 17,009 (886)
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11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FrERMAxX
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Current tax expense: BEAfR BRI X ¢
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) RS
(B HRD 108,355 73,700
Deferred tax expense (Note 29) IRER AR SZ (M1 7729) 119,665 173,760
Income tax expense TSR X 228,020 247,460

)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
Independent State of Samoa (“Samoa”) and the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax
in Bermuda, Samoa and the BVI.

No provisions for Hong Kong Profits Tax have been made for
subsidiaries established in Hong Kong as these subsidiaries
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for both years.

Profit of the subsidiaries established in PRC are subject to
PRC EIT.

Under the 